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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

AND FINANCIAL POSITION

The following discussion of our results of operations and financial position should be read in conjunction with our
consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2002.

Overview

Magna Entertainment Corp. (“MEC”, “we” or the “Company”) is North America’s number one owner and operator
of thoroughbred racetracks and one of the world’s leading suppliers, via simulcasting, of live racing content to the
growing inter-track, off-track and account wagering markets. We have had an active year and made significant progress
in achieving our strategic plan. In October 2002, we completed the acquisition of Lone Star Park at Grand Prairie, a
Thoroughbred and American Quarter Horse racetrack located near Dallas, Texas. In November 2002, we acquired a
controlling interest in Pimlico Race Course and Laurel Park, which are operated under the trade name “The Maryland
Jockey Club”. Pimlico Race Course, the home of the Preakness Stakes®, the middle jewel of thoroughbred racing’s
Triple Crown, and Laurel Park both are located in the Baltimore, Maryland area. In addition, in October 2002,
Ontario Racing Inc. (“ORI”) acquired Flamboro Downs, a Harness racetrack located in Hamilton, Ontario, 45 miles
west of Toronto, Ontario. Five business days after MEC receives all necessary regulatory approvals for the acquisition
of Flamboro Downs, the shares of ORI will be transferred to the Company. We expect this acquisition will be completed
in the spring of 2003. We currently operate or manage eleven thoroughbred racetracks, one standardbred racetrack,
one racetrack that runs both thoroughbred and standardbred meets and one greyhound track, as well as the simulcast
wagering venues at these tracks. In addition, we operate off-track betting (“OTB”) facilities and a national account
wagering business known as XpressBetTM, which permits customers to place wagers by telephone and over the Internet
on horse races run at up to 70 racetracks in North America. MEC also owns and operates HorseRacing TVTM, a new
television channel focused exclusively on horse racing that we launched on the Racetrack Television Network (“RTN”)
in July 2002. HorseRacing TVTM is currently shown on cable only in the western Pennsylvania and San Diego, California
areas and on RTN, but we are in discussions with cable and satellite operators with the goal of achieving broader
distribution. RTN, in which we have a one-third interest, was formed to telecast races from our racetracks and other
racetracks, via private direct to home satellite, to paying subscribers. To support certain of our thoroughbred racetracks,
we own thoroughbred training centers situated near San Diego, California, in Palm Beach County, Florida and in the
Baltimore, Maryland area. We have also commenced development of a horse racetrack and gaming facility near
Vienna, Austria.

Since our inception in 1998, we have experienced significant growth through our strategic acquisition program.
We intend to grow and develop our business further by:

• Continuing to integrate our acquisitions by employing “best practice” improvements at our racetracks;
• Expanding the distribution of our live racing;
• Further developing an integrated branding and marketing strategy; 
• Improving the quality of the entertainment experience at our racetracks and OTB facilities;
• Obtaining broader distribution of HorseRacing TVTM; and 
• Selectively acquiring additional strategic racetracks and related assets.

A number of the states in which our racetracks operate are considering the legalization of alternative gaming at
racetracks. Through the pending acquisition of Flamboro Downs, we will develop a relationship with the Ontario
Lottery and Gaming Corporation, which operates the gaming facility at Flamboro. We expect that the ownership of
Flamboro and this relationship will enable us to develop some expertise in the issues surrounding the operation and
management of alternative gaming facilities at racetracks.

Based on our current export simulcast sales to the UK and market research, we believe that the European
marketplace offers significant potential growth for the export of MEC's horse racing. Our afternoon time zone horse
racing is available for simulcast delivery during the evening in Europe, while currently there is limited domestic
European racing conducted in the evenings. We believe that MEC's horse racing is ideally suited to meet this product
need in many European markets that have a strong affinity for horse racing and wagering.

At December 31, 2002, we had spent or committed approximately $36.0 million on the development of a racetrack,
combined with a gaming and entertainment center, on property which we own in Ebreichsdorf, Austria. One function
of this development will be to serve as the central tote and satellite re-uplink hub for our European business.

MAGNA ENTERTAINMENT CORP.
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In addition, it will afford MEC a unique opportunity to market, promote and sell our North American product to the
European marketplace. This project has been commenced in anticipation of concluding joint venture negotiations with
an Austrian third party and receiving the requisite racing and gaming licenses. Although we have made significant
progress to date, ultimately those negotiations may not be successful or we may not obtain the necessary licenses.
If we are unable to complete this development as planned, we may need to take a substantial write-down of the carrying
value of this property. 

In addition to our racetracks, we own a significant real estate portfolio which includes two golf courses, related
recreational facilities and gated residential communities under development in Austria and in Canada, as well as other
real estate in the United States, Canada and Austria. We are exploring the development of real estate on the land
surrounding certain of our racetracks. These real estate projects could be pursued in conjunction with developers who
could be expected to provide marketing and development expertise and the necessary financing. While we are exploring
the development of some of our real estate, we intend to continue to sell our non-core real estate in order to generate
additional capital to grow and enhance our racing business.

The amounts described below are based on our consolidated financial statements, which we prepare in accordance
with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). U.S. GAAP, as applied to us, does not materially differ
from accounting principles generally accepted in Canada, or Canadian GAAP, except as disclosed in Note 20 to our
consolidated financial statements.

Racing Operations

Information about our racing operations is set forth below.

Year ended December 31, 2002
Local Market Live Total Handle(2) Revenue

Date Population(1) Racing (in millions) (in millions)
Track and Location Acquired (in millions) Racing Season Days (unaudited) (unaudited)

Santa Anita Park - Los Angeles Dec. 1998 10.9 Jan. 1 to Apr. 21 and 84 $1,133.2 $ 147.8
Dec. 26 to 31 

The Oak Tree Meet 26 276.8(3)

Oct. 2 to Nov. 3
Gulfstream Park - Miami Sept. 1999 4.3 Jan. 3 to Apr. 24 90 789.5 81.8
Golden Gate Fields - San Francisco Dec. 1999 5.2 Jan. 1 to Mar. 31 and 103 559.9 60.2

Nov. 6 to Dec. 22
Bay Meadows(4) - San Francisco Nov. 2000 5.7 Apr. 3 to Jun. 16 and 105 516.5 62.5

Aug. 30 to Nov. 3
Pimlico Race Course(5)(6) - Baltimore Nov. 2002 5.2 Apr. 4 to Jun. 16 and 110 466.9 59.9

Sep. 4 to Oct. 5
Lone Star Park(5) - Dallas Oct. 2002 5.1 Apr. 4 to Jul. 14 and 103 400.1 67.3

Oct. 4 to Nov. 30
Laurel Park(5)(6) - Baltimore Nov. 2002 6.6 Jan. 1 to Mar. 30, 107 379.9 49.0

Jul. 25 to Aug. 23 and
Oct. 8 to Dec. 31

The Meadows - Pittsburgh Apr. 2001 2.8 All year 210 245.2 40.8
Thistledown - Cleveland Nov. 1999 3.0 Mar. 29 to Dec. 23 187 221.0 34.9
XpressBetTM - National Apr. 2001 N/A All year N/A 118.4 24.8
Remington Park - Oklahoma City Nov. 1999 1.1 Apr. 5 to Jun. 8 and 105 110.3 23.0

Aug. 10 to Dec. 21
Great Lakes Downs - Muskegon, Michigan Feb. 2000 1.2 Apr. 29 to Oct. 29 118 60.0 6.1
Multnomah Greyhound Park - Portland Oct. 2001 2.0 May 3 to Oct. 12 127 43.4 11.1
Portland Meadows - Portland July 2001 2.0 Jan. 1 to Feb. 10 and 47 42.5 9.7

Oct. 19 to Dec. 29
TOTAL: $678.9

(1) Population residing within 40 miles of each of our racetracks, except for Santa Anita Park (30 miles), The Meadows (50 miles) and Great Lakes Downs
(50 miles). Data from Urban Systems Inc. 

(2) Amounts comprising Total Handle include inter-company transactions for our racetracks, account wagering operations and separate OTB facilities, for both 
our importing and our exporting facilities. 

(3) Rental and other revenues earned from The Oak Tree Meet are included in Santa Anita Park’s revenue.
(4) The Bay Meadows lease expires on December 31, 2003, subject to a further one year extension at the landlord’s option. 
(5) Includes unaudited data for the periods prior to our ownership. 
(6) The Maryland Jockey Club manages Colonial Downs in New Kent, Virginia and Colonial Downs’ network of Virginia OTB facilities. Colonial Downs had 26

days of live thoroughbred racing and 24 days of live standardbred racing during 2002. Management fees earned from the management of Colonial Downs 
are included in Pimlico Race Course and Laurel Park’s revenues.

564_FIN_P23  3/15/03  9:14 AM  Page 23



24

Our primary source of racing revenues is commissions earned from pari-mutuel wagering. Pari-mutuel wagering
on horse racing is a form of wagering in which wagers on a horse race are aggregated in a commingled pool of wagers
(the "mutuel pool") and the payoff to winning customers is determined by both the total dollar amount of wagers in the
mutuel pool and the allocation of those dollars among the various kinds of bets. Unlike casino gambling, the customers
bet against each other, and not against us, and therefore we bear no risk of loss with respect to any wagering conducted.
We retain a pre-determined percentage of the total amount wagered (the "take-out") on each event and the remaining
balance of the mutuel pool is distributed to the winning customers. Of the percentage we retain, a portion is paid to
the horse owners in the form of purses or winnings, which encourage the horse owners and their trainers to enter their
horses in our races. Our share of pari-mutuel wagering revenues is based on pre-determined percentages of various
categories of the pooled wagers at our racetracks. The maximum pre-determined percentages are approved by state
regulators. Pari-mutuel wagering on horse racing occurs on the live races being conducted at racetracks, as well as on
televised racing signals, or simulcasts, received or imported by the simulcast wagering facilities located at such racetracks
or OTB facilities, and through various forms of account wagering. Our racetracks have simulcast wagering facilities to
complement our live horse racing, enabling our customers to wager on horse races being held at other racetracks.

We derive our gross wagering revenues from the following primary sources:

• Wagers placed at our racetracks or our OTB facilities on live racing conducted at our racetracks;
• Wagers placed at our racetracks' simulcast wagering venues or our OTB facilities on races imported from other 

racetracks;
• Wagers placed at other locations (e.g., other racetracks, OTB facilities or casinos) on live racing signals exported 

by our racetracks; and
• Wagers placed by telephone or over the Internet by customers enrolled in our national account wagering program,

XpressBetTM.

Wagers placed at our racetracks or our OTB facilities on live racing conducted at one of our racetracks produce
more revenue for us than wagers placed on imported racing signals, because we must pay the racetrack sending us its
signal a fee generally equal to 3% to 4% of the amount wagered on its race. Wagers placed on imported signals, in turn,
produce more revenue for us than wagers placed on our signals exported to off-track venues (i.e., other racetracks,
OTB facilities or casinos), where we are paid a commission generally equal to only 3% to 4% of the amount wagered at
the off-track venue on the signal we export to those venues. Revenues from our telephone and Internet account wagering
operations vary depending upon the source of the signal upon which the wager is placed; wagers placed on our signals
produce more revenue for us than wagers placed on signals imported by us from other racetracks. 

In response to the recent controversy regarding the alleged manipulation of certain multi-leg wagers, such as “Pick 6”
bets, we are currently reviewing our practices and certain of our suppliers’ practices in cooperation with other racetrack
operators, industry associations, regulators and others. The results of the current investigations concerning these wagers
and the growing concern over late posting of odds changes may cause a decline in bettor confidence and could result
in changes to legislation, regulation, or industry practices, which could materially adversely impact the amount
wagered on horse racing.

We also generate non-wagering revenues consisting primarily of food and beverage sales, program sales, admissions
income, parking revenues, sponsorship revenue and income from the rental of our facilities to other racing operators.

Live race days are a significant factor in the operating and financial performance of our racing business. Another
significant factor is the level of wagering per customer on our racing content on-track, at inter-track simulcast locations
and at OTB facilities. There are also many other factors that have a significant impact on our racetrack revenues,
which factors include, but are not limited to: attendance at our racetracks, inter-track simulcast locations and OTB
facilities; activity through our XpressBetTM system; the number of races and the average field size per race; our ability
to attract the industry's top horses and trainers; inclement weather; and changes in the economy.

564_FIN_P24  3/15/03  9:14 AM  Page 24



25

Set forth below is a list of the total live race days by racetrack for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and
2000 as well as of those live race days during our ownership of the racetracks.

Year ended 12/31/02 Year ended 12/31/01 Year ended 12/31/00
Total During Our Total During Our Total During Our

Ownership Ownership Ownership
Santa Anita Park(1) 84 84 83 83 87 87
Golden Gate Fields 103 103 103 103 106 106
Bay Meadows 105 105 107 107 106 –
Gulfstream Park 90 90 63 63 63 63
Pimlico Race Course 110 – 109 – 111 –
Laurel Park 107 18 110 – 109 –
Lone Star Park 103 15 107 – 106 –
Thistledown 187 187 187 187 187 187
Remington Park 105 105 118 118 136 136
Great Lakes Downs 118 118 127 127 132 132
The Meadows 210 210 222 170 231 –
Portland Meadows(2) 47 47 80 28 80 –

1,369 1,082 1,416 986 1,454 711

(1) Excludes The Oak Tree Meet which consisted of 26 days in 2002, 32 days in 2001 and 27 days in 2000.
(2) The live race meet at Portland Meadows concluded early on February 10, 2002, to enable the necessary steps to be taken in order to bring the facility into 

compliance with the requirements of the United States Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”). This resulted in 34 fewer live race days than were awarded
for 2002. Construction of a storm water retention system acceptable to the EPA was completed and live racing resumed in October 2002.

We recognize revenue prior to our payment of purses, stakes, awards and pari-mutuel wagering taxes. The costs
relating to these amounts are shown as "purses, awards and other" in our consolidated financial statements.

Our operating costs include principally salaries and benefits, utilities, the cost of food and beverages sold, racetrack
repairs and maintenance expenses, sales and marketing expenses, rent, printing costs, property taxes, licenses and
insurance.

In 2002, we reached an agreement with the property owner on an extension of the site lease for Bay Meadows
Racecourse. The extension runs through December 31, 2003, subject to a further one-year extension at the landlord’s
option. The rental rate for the facility has increased approximately $3.0 million for 2003, compared to the prior year.
Although we expect that the lease will be extended beyond the end of 2003, we are continuing to explore alternative
venues, including vacant land that we purchased in Dixon, California, at which to conduct the racing dates currently
held at Bay Meadows. Should we wish to run these racing dates at another racetrack operated by MEC in northern
California, we would require regulatory approval.

Although we are considering a major redevelopment of our Gulfstream Park racetrack in Florida (the “Gulfstream
Park Redevelopment”), we have deferred a decision on the project at the present time. Should we proceed as currently
contemplated, the Gulfstream Park Redevelopment would include a simulcast pavilion, a sports and entertainment
arena and a new turf club and grandstand. In addition, there would be significant modifications and enhancements to
the racetracks and stable areas. If completed, the Gulfstream Park Redevelopment would require the demolition of a
substantial portion of the current buildings and related structures, which include the grandstand and turf club.
The aggregate carrying value at December 31, 2002 of the assets that would be demolished if the Gulfstream Park
Redevelopment is completed is approximately $22.2 million. If we decide to proceed with the Gulfstream Park
Redevelopment and obtain the approval of our Board of Directors, a reduction in the expected life of the existing
assets would occur and a write-down would be necessary.

Seasonality

Our racetracks operate for prescribed periods each year. As a result, our racing revenues and operating results for
any quarter will not be indicative of the revenues and operating results for the year. Because four of our largest racetracks,
Santa Anita Park, Gulfstream Park, Lone Star Park and Golden Gate Fields, run live race meets principally during the
first half of the year, our racing operations have historically operated at a loss in the second half of the year, with our
third quarter generating the largest loss. This seasonality has resulted in large quarterly fluctuations in revenue and
operating results. We expect the seasonality of our business to gradually diminish as our recent acquisitions, OTB and
account wagering initiatives evolve. 
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Real Estate Operations

We characterize our real estate as follows: 

Revenue-Producing Racing Real Estate

• real estate at our racetracks to be used in our racing operations;

Excess Racing Real Estate

• excess real estate at our racetracks that we are considering
developing with strategic partners; 

Development Real Estate

• real estate not at our racetracks that is either under development
or that we are holding for development; 

Revenue-Producing Non-Racing Real Estate

• developed real estate not at our racetracks that is currently
generating revenue for us; and 

Non-Core Real Estate

• non-core real estate that we hold for sale. 

As of December 31, 2002, the aggregate net book values of our real estate is as follows: 

$ millions
Revenue-Producing Racing Real Estate $ 466.4
Excess Racing Real Estate 100.3
Development Real Estate 71.4
Revenue-Producing Non-Racing Real Estate 68.5
Non-Core Real Estate 10.8

$717.4

Included in our income before income taxes for the year ended December 31, 2002 are gains on the sale of Non-
Core Real Estate of $2.2 million. We expect these gains to be eliminated after the next year as the balance of our
Non-Core Real Estate is sold. We intend to continue to sell the balance of our Non-Core Real Estate in order to provide
capital to grow and enhance our core racing operations and related businesses. 

Included in our Excess Racing Real Estate is land adjacent to several of our racetracks, Santa Anita Park,
Gulfstream Park, Golden Gate Fields, Lone Star Park, Laurel Park and Pimlico Race Course, totaling approximately
314 acres. We are considering a variety of options with respect to this excess land, including entertainment and
retail-based developments that could be undertaken in conjunction with business partners who could be expected to
provide the necessary financing. In November 2002, we entered into an agreement with the East Bay Regional Park
District, a California Special District, to sell approximately 16 acres of excess real estate located at Golden Gate Fields
in Berkeley, California. The value of the consideration to be received by the Company for the real estate, excluding
certain tax benefits of $1.4 million, is $8.5 million. The carrying value of the property, prior to entering into the agreement,
was $14.3 million which was based on an allocation of the purchase price for the Golden Gate Fields acquisition in 1999.
The transaction is expected to close in the third quarter of 2003, subject to certain conditions, including the purchaser
completing certain due diligence procedures. In 2002, we recorded a write-down of this real estate which resulted in a
loss before income taxes and a loss after income taxes of $5.8 million and $2.4 million, respectively.

Real Estate Holdings

■   Revenue-Producing Racing Real Estate

■   Excess Racing Real Estate

■   Development Real Estate

■   Revenue-Producing Non-Racing Real Estate

■   Non-Core Real Estate

65%

14%
10%

10%
1%
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Our Development Real Estate is largely undeveloped, and includes: approximately 562 acres of land in Ebreichsdorf,
Austria, located approximately 15 miles south of Vienna, on which we have commenced development of a horse racetrack
and gaming facility; approximately 110 acres of undeveloped land in Oberwaltersdorf, Austria, also located approximately
15 miles south of Vienna; approximately 800 acres of undeveloped land in upstate New York; approximately 260 acres
of undeveloped land in Dixon, California, located approximately 20 miles west of Sacramento; and approximately
435 acres of undeveloped land in Ocala, Florida.

Our Revenue-Producing Non-Racing Real Estate consists of two golf courses that we own and operate, Fontana
Sports and Magna Golf Club. Fontana Sports, which opened in 1997, is a semi-private sports facility located in
Oberwaltersdorf, Austria that includes an 18-hole golf course, a clubhouse which contains a dining facility, a fitness
facility, a pro shop and a tennis club. The Magna Golf Club, which is in Aurora, Ontario, adjacent to our and Magna
International Inc.’s (“Magna”) headquarters approximately 30 miles north of Toronto, opened in May 2001. The clubhouse
was completed in the spring of 2002 and contains a dining facility, a members' lounge, a pro shop and a fitness facility.

Pursuant to an access arrangement effective as of March 1, 1999, Magna is paying us an annual fee of 2.5 million
Euros to access the Fontana Sports golf course and related recreational facilities for Magna-sponsored corporate and
charitable events, as well as for business development purposes. The access fee relating to Fontana Sports is payable
until March 1, 2004, unless renewed by mutual agreement of the parties. Pursuant to an access agreement effective as of
January 1, 2001, Magna is paying us an annual fee of $5.0 million Canadian to access the Magna Golf Club. The access
fee relating to the Magna Golf Club is payable until December 31, 2003, unless renewed by mutual agreement of the
parties. The Fontana Sports and Magna Golf Club properties are both subject to rights of first refusal in favor of Magna
if we decide to sell either of them.

Related Party Transactions

Refer to Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements, which
describes all material related party transactions.

Results of Operations

The following is a discussion and comparison of our results of
operations and financial position for the years ended December 31,
2002, 2001 and 2000.

Year Ended December 31, 2002 Compared to December 31, 2001

Racing operations

Revenues from our racing operations were $522.6 million in 2002,
compared to $459.4 million in 2001, an increase of $63.2 million or
13.8%. The increase resulted primarily from additional live race days at
Gulfstream, the acquisition of MEC Pennsylvania in April 2001 and
Multnomah in October 2001, the lease of Portland Meadows in July 2001,
the acquisition of Lone Star Park in October 2002 and The Maryland
Jockey Club in November 2002, the launch of XpressBetTM in California
in January 2002 and improved results at Santa Anita Park.

In 2002, gross wagering revenues for our racing operations increased 14.4% to $450.7 million, compared to
$394.0 million in 2001, primarily as a result of the additional live race days at Gulfstream, increased average daily handle
at Santa Anita Park and the completion of our acquisitions, partially offset by decreased revenues at certain of our
racetracks as a result of lower average daily attendance, fewer live race days and a generally weak U.S. economy.
Non-wagering revenues in 2002 increased 9.9% to $71.9 million compared to $65.4 million in 2001. Contributing to
the increase in non-wagering revenues were increases in revenues from parking, racing and concert admissions, program
sales and food and beverage operations related to the increase in live race days and due to our acquisitions.

Racing Revenues

(US$ Millions)
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Purses, awards and other increased by 13.4% to $276.0 million in 2002 from $243.4 million in 2001 primarily due
to the increase in gross wagering revenues for the year. As a percentage of gross wagering revenue, purses, awards and
other decreased from 61.8% in 2001 to 61.2% in 2002. Operating costs increased to $183.4 million in 2002 from
$152.6 million in 2001. The increased operating costs included $24.4 million related to acquisitions or new business
units not included in the prior year. As a percentage of total racing revenues, operating costs increased from 33.2% in
2001 to 35.1% in 2002. The increase in operating costs as a percentage of revenue was primarily the result of an
increase in insurance costs of $3.6 million, start-up costs of $1.3 million related to XpressBetTM and the launch of
HorseRacing TVTM and an increase in utility costs of approximately $0.8 million.

Racing general and administrative expenses were $41.5 million in 2002, compared to $31.1 million in 2001. As a
percentage of total racing revenues, general and administrative expenses increased from 6.8% in 2001 to 7.9% in 2002.
The increased costs included $4.9 million of costs related to acquisitions or new business units not included in the
prior year and higher costs of the corporate head office, as several members of corporate and group management
teams joined late in the second quarter of 2001 and during 2002.

Real estate operations

Revenues from real estate operations were $26.6 million in 2002, compared to $59.7 million in 2001. Income before
income taxes from real estate activities decreased to a loss of $0.1 million in 2002 from income of $21.5 million in
2001. These decreases are primarily attributable to the lower level of sales of Non-Core Real Estate in 2002. In 2002,
we had gains on the sale of Non-Core Real Estate of $2.2 million, compared to gains of $20.4 million during 2001.

Predevelopment and other costs

Predevelopment and other costs were $2.3 million in 2002 compared to $3.2 million in 2001. The decrease in
predevelopment and other costs was a result of lower activity on certain development projects in the current year.

Write-down of long-lived and intangible assets

Pursuant to SFAS 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets”, and SFAS 142,
“Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”, our long-lived assets and racing licenses were tested for impairment after
completion of our annual business planning process. As a result of declining attendance and related revenues at
Remington Park and Great Lakes Downs, operating profits and cash flows were lower than expected in 2002. Based on
these results, the earnings forecasts for these two racetracks were revised and we recognized an impairment in value of
$14.7 million related to our long-lived assets and an impairment in value of racing licenses of $2.8 million in 2002.

Depreciation and amortization

Depreciation and amortization decreased $3.4 million from $26.2 million in 2001 to $22.8 million in 2002, primarily
as a result of the implementation of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 142, Goodwill
and Intangible Assets (“SFAS 142”). The implementation of SFAS 142 resulted in the cessation of amortization of
goodwill and intangible assets that meet the criteria for indefinite life, effective January 1, 2002. The impact of SFAS
142 was to reduce depreciation and amortization expense by $8.0 million from the prior year, which has been partially
offset by increased depreciation and amortization of fixed assets for our acquisitions and increased depreciation on
recent fixed asset additions.

Interest income and expense

Our net interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2002 decreased $2.0 million to $0.7 million from
$2.7 million in 2001. The lower net interest expense is attributable to the capitalization of interest on certain properties
under development in the current year, interest earned on increased cash balances on hand and a reduction of debt for
the majority of the year.
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Income tax provision

We recorded an income tax benefit of $8.6 million on a loss before
income taxes of $23.0 million in 2002, compared to an income tax provision
of $9.3 million on income before income taxes of $22.8 million in 2001.
Our effective income tax rate in 2002 was 37.4%, compared to 41.0% in
2001, primarily as a result of the income tax recovery recorded on our
write-down of long-lived and intangible assets, which did not reflect any
state tax recovery.

Year Ended December 31, 2001 Compared to December 31, 2000

Racing operations

Revenues from our racing operations were $459.4 million in 2001,
compared to $355.2 million in 2000, an increase of $104.2 million or
29.3%. This increase resulted primarily from having nine racetracks open
for live racing for some part of the year, compared with only six open in
2000. We acquired the operations of Bay Meadows on November 17,
2000, the operations of MEC Pennsylvania, formerly Ladbroke
Pennsylvania, which include the operations of The Meadows, four OTB
facilities and the Pennsylvania hub for XpressBetTM, on April 5, 2001,
and Multnomah Greyhound Park on October 26, 2001. In addition, in
the second quarter of 2001, we leased a racetrack facility in Portland,
Oregon operating as Portland Meadows.

In 2001, gross wagering revenues for our racing operations increased 30.8% to $394.0 million, compared to
$301.3 million in 2000, primarily relating to the increase in live race days due to our acquisitions. Non-wagering
revenues in 2001 increased 21.3% to $65.4 million, compared to $54.0 million in 2000. Contributing to the increase in
non-wagering revenues were increases in revenues from parking, admissions and program sales related to the increase
in live race days due to our acquisitions and the addition of food and beverage revenues from our Gulfstream Park
facility, previously contracted out to concession operators.

Purses, awards and other increased by 28.1% to $243.4 million in 2001 from $190.0 million in 2000 primarily due
to the increase in gross wagering revenues for the  year. As a percentage of gross wagering revenue, purses, awards and
other decreased from 63.1% in  2000 to 61.8% in 2001. Operating costs increased to $152.6 million in 2001 from
$128.6 million in 2000. As a percentage of total racing revenues, operating costs decreased from 36.2% in 2000 to
33.2% in 2001. The reduction in operating costs as a percentage of revenues was primarily the result of cost savings
and other synergies realized on the consolidation of racing operations during the year. Racing general and administrative
expenses were $31.1 million in 2001, compared to $18.1 million in 2000. As a percentage of total racing revenue,
general and administrative expenses increased from 5.1% in 2000 to 6.8% in 2001. The increase in general and
administrative expenses as a percentage of total racing revenue in 2001 was primarily related to the higher costs of the
corporate head office, where we have continued to add management expertise. These costs were significantly lower
during the formative stage of the Company in 2000.

Real estate operations

Revenues from real estate operations were $59.7 million in 2001, compared to $58.3 million in 2000. Income before
income taxes from real estate activities increased to $21.5 million in 2001 from $5.4 million in 2000. These increases
are primarily attributable to the sale of Non-Core Real Estate in 2001. In 2001 we had gains on the sale of Non-Core
Real Estate of $20.4 million, compared to gains of $7.0 million during the same period in 2000.

EBITDA
Excluding the Sale of Non-Core

Real Estate and Asset Write-Downs

(US$ Millions)
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(Refer to page 68 of the Annual Report for Reconciliation of
Non-GAAP to GAAP Financial Measures)
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Predevelopment and other costs

Predevelopment and other costs were $3.2 million in 2001 compared to $4.2 million in 2000. These costs include
consultants’ fees associated with technology development, feasibility studies, construction designs, market analyses,
site models and alternative site investigations.

Depreciation and amortization

Depreciation and amortization increased by $6.1 million to $26.2 million in 2001, compared to $20.1 million in
2000. The increase in depreciation and amortization is primarily attributable to our Bay Meadows and MEC
Pennsylvania acquisitions and increased depreciation recorded on recent fixed asset additions.

Interest income and expense

Our net interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2001 increased $2.5 million to $2.7 million from
$0.2 million in 2000. The higher net interest expense is attributable to the increase in long-term debt in the fourth
quarter of 2000 and the second quarter of 2001, related to the financings of our Bay Meadows and MEC Pennsylvania
acquisitions and the purchase of 481 acres of land in Palm Beach County, Florida, offset by interest capitalized on
properties under development.

Income tax provision

We recorded an income tax provision of $9.3 million on income before income taxes of $22.8 million in 2001,
compared to an income tax provision of $1.1 million on income before income taxes of $1.6 million in 2000.
Our effective income tax rate in 2001 was 41.0%, compared to 71.6% in 2000, primarily as a result of the higher level
of operating losses in certain subsidiaries in 2000, for which we did not recognize the tax benefit in that period.

Year Ended December 31, 2000 Compared to December 31, 1999

Racing operations

Revenues from our racing operations were $355.2 million in 2000, compared to $164.9 million in 1999, an increase
of $190.3 million, or 115.4%. The increase in revenues is primarily the result of the additional racetracks acquired in
2000 and in late 1999. Revenues for 2000 reflect the full year of live racing and simulcast operations for all the racetracks
we owned except for Great Lakes Downs and Bay Meadows, revenues for which are included from their dates of
acquisition on February 29, 2000 and November 17, 2000, respectively. Revenues for 1999 reflect the full year operations
of Santa Anita Park and the operations of Gulfstream Park from September 1, 1999, the date of acquisition,
Thistledown and Remington Park from November 12, 1999, their date of acquisition, and Golden Gate Fields from
December 10, 1999, the date of acquisition.

Gross wagering revenues for our racing operations increased 125.0% to $301.3 million in 2000, compared to
$133.9 million in 1999, primarily as a result of our racetrack acquisitions. Non-wagering revenues in 2000 were
$54.0 million, compared to $31.0 million in 1999, an increase of 74.0%. The increase in non-wagering revenues is lower
than the increase in gross wagering revenues because a portion of the gross wagering revenues is earned from simulcast
export activities, which do not provide our racetracks with customers that would generate non-wagering revenues.

Purses, awards and other increased 122.2%, from $85.5 million in 1999 to $190.0 million in 2000. As a percentage
of gross wagering revenue, purses, awards and other decreased from 63.9% in 1999 to 63.1% in 2000. Operating costs
increased from $63.3 million in 1999 to $128.6 million in 2000. As a percentage of total racing revenues, operating
costs decreased from 38.4% in 1999 to 36.2% in 2000, purses, awards and other increased from 51.9% to 53.5%, and
general and administrative expenses increased from 3.6% to 5.1%. The reduction in operating costs as a percentage of
revenues is primarily the result of cost savings and other synergies realized in connection with the consolidation of racing
operations in 2000. Racing general and administrative expenses increased to $18.1 million in 2000, compared to
$6.0 million in 1999. The increase was primarily due to the additional racetracks acquired in late 1999 and 2000,
the significant costs incurred to restructure our corporate office and other one-time costs, primarily related to severance
payments and the closing of our Santa Monica office, of approximately $7.5 million in 2000.
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Real estate operations

Revenues from our real estate operations were $58.3 million in 2000, compared to $21.9 million in 1999. Income
before income taxes from real estate operations increased to $5.4 million in 2000 from a loss of $2.6 million in 1999.
This increase was primarily attributable to an increase in the amount of Non-Core Real Estate sold in 2000 compared
to 1999. For the year ended December 31, 2000, we had gains of $7.0 million on the sale of real estate, compared to
gains of $0.6 million in 1999.

Predevelopment and other costs

Predevelopment and other costs related to both our racing operations and our real estate operations were $4.2 million
in 2000, compared to $0.5 million in 1999, resulting from increasing our predevelopment activities in 2000.

Depreciation and amortization

Depreciation and amortization increased by $12.2 million to $20.1 million for 2000, compared to $7.9 million in
1999. This increase reflects full year depreciation and amortization charges related to Gulfstream Park, Thistledown,
Remington Park and Golden Gate Fields, all acquired in the second half of 1999, and partial year depreciation and
amortization charges related to Great Lakes Downs and Bay Meadows, both acquired in 2000.

Interest income and expense

Our net interest expense for 2000 was $0.2 million, compared to net interest income of $0.9 million in 1999.
The higher net interest expense is attributable to the increase in long-term debt in 2000 primarily related to the
financing of the Bay Meadows acquisition and the purchase of land in Palm Beach County, Florida.

Income tax provision

We recorded an income tax provision of $1.1 million on income before income taxes of $1.6 million for 2000,
compared to an income tax provision of $2.8 million on income before income taxes of $2.8 million in 1999. The decrease
in our income tax provision resulted primarily from the higher level of operating losses in 1999 of some of our subsidiaries,
for which we did not recognize the tax benefit in that period.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Year Ended December 31, 2002

Operating activities

Cash provided by operations before changes in non-cash working
capital decreased $6.6 million in 2002 compared to 2001. The decrease
was attributable to decreases in net income, depreciation and amortization,
future income taxes and gains on disposal of real estate properties,
partially offset by write-downs of real estate and intangible assets and
equity earnings. In 2002, cash provided from non-cash working capital
balances was $0.4 million.

Investing activities

Cash used in investing activities in 2002 was $226.2 million, including
$146.3 million spent on acquisitions, primarily for Lone Star Park and
The Maryland Jockey Club, expenditures of $107.2 million on real estate
property and fixed asset additions and $26.6 million in other asset additions,
partially offset by $53.9 million of proceeds received on the sale of Non-
Core Real Estate. Expenditures relating to real estate property and fixed
assets for 2002 included $42.0 million for the construction of our Palm

Long-Term Debt 
To Total Capitalization

22%

78%

Long-Term Debt, including
Convertble Subordinated Notes

Long-Term Debt
Convertible Subordinated Notes

Shareholders' Equity
Total Capitalization

$132.9

US$ millions

72.2

720.9
205.1

$926.0
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Meadows training center, $23.3 million for our Austrian racetrack under development, $8.1 million for the completion
of our Magna Golf Club clubhouse, $7.6 million for the purchase of 435 acres of land in Ocala, Florida and maintenance
capital improvements of $9.9 million. The remaining $16.3 million of expenditures related to other racetrack property
enhancements, infrastructure and predevelopment costs on certain of our properties and account wagering and television
related activities. Other asset additions included our cash advance of $23.1 million to Ontario Racing Inc. related to
the purchase of Flamboro Downs.

Financing activities

Cash provided by financing activities was $249.2 million in 2002 arising from the issuance of share capital for
$142.4 million, net of issue expenses, and convertible subordinated notes for $72.2 million, net of issue expenses, and
utilization of the Company’s revolving credit facility for $49.5 million, partially offset by the net repayment of long-term
debt of $14.9 million.

Year Ended December 31, 2001

Operating activities

Cash provided by operations before changes in non-cash working capital increased $18.6 million in 2001 compared
to 2000. The increase was attributable to increases in net income, depreciation and amortization and future income
taxes, partially offset by additional gains recorded on the disposal of Non-Core Real Estate. In 2001, cash invested in
non-cash working capital balances was $0.7 million.

Investing activities

Cash used in investing activities in 2001 was $7.5 million, including investments of $40.0 million in real estate
property and fixed asset and other asset additions and $24.0 million on the acquisitions of MEC Pennsylvania and
Multnomah Greyhound Park, partially offset by $56.5 million of proceeds received on the sale of Non-Core Real
Estate. In 2001, we invested $38.9 million in real estate and fixed asset additions, which included $6.4 million for the
purchase of real estate, $14.8 million related to maintenance capital improvements to the racetracks and $10.7 million
on the Magna Golf Club in Aurora, Ontario. The remaining $7.0 million of expenditures related to racetrack property
enhancements, infrastructure and predevelopment costs on certain of our properties and on account wagering activities,
including the telephone and Internet and television distribution.

Financing activities

Cash used for financing activities was $10.2 million in 2001. During 2001, there were repayments of bank
indebtedness of $7.6 million and of long-term debt of $18.0 million, partially offset by the issuance of long-term debt
of $15.0 million related to our term loan facility and the issuance of share capital of $0.5 million.

Year Ended December 31, 2000

Operating activities

In 2000, we generated $7.7 million of cash flow from operations and invested $23.8 million in working capital,
resulting in a net use of cash of $16.1 million for operating activities. During the comparable period in 1999, we generated
$5.9 million of cash flow from operations and our investment in working capital decreased by $9.3 million, resulting in
net cash from operating activities of $15.2 million. The decrease in cash flow from operations of $31.3 million from
$15.2 million in 1999 to a use of cash of $16.1 million in 2000 is primarily due to the need to fund working capital
deficiencies in that period related to acquisitions completed in the latter part of 1999 and early 2000. Those funding
requirements had been taken into consideration in the negotiation of the purchase price of those acquisitions.
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Investing activities

Cash used in investing activities was $35.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2000. During 2000,
$24.1 million was used to acquire Bay Meadows and $54.0 million was spent on real estate property and other fixed
asset additions. Expenditures on real estate included the purchase of 481 acres of property in Palm Beach County,
Florida, which we are currently developing into a second horse boarding and training center for $22.9 million,
$22.5 million on continued spending in connection with the Magna Golf Club in Aurora, Ontario and $8.6 million on
upgrades to racetrack facilities, normal ongoing maintenance items and other fixed assets. Cash used in investing
activities in 2000 was partially offset by proceeds of $33.4 million from the sale of Non-Core Real Estate.

Financing activities

Cash provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2000 was $32.9 million. The cash provided
by financing activities for 2000 relates substantially to the issuance of long-term debt of $48.0 million primarily related
to the financing of the Bay Meadows acquisition and other real estate additions, partially offset by the repayment of
other long-term debt of $15.9 million. Included in these repayments was $6.8 million of debt assumed in connection
with the acquisition of Gulfstream Park and the repayment of a portion of the promissory note issued in connection
with the acquisition of Golden Gate Fields.

Working Capital, Cash and Other Resources

Our net working capital, excluding cash and cash equivalents and bank indebtedness, was ($37.6) million at
December 31, 2002, compared to ($22.6) million at December 31, 2001. The decreased investment in net working
capital, excluding cash and cash equivalents and bank indebtedness, was primarily related to an increase in accounts
payable and other accruals of $34.4 million, partially offset by an increase in accounts receivable of $13.0 million and
prepaid expenses and other of $2.9 million and a reduction of income taxes payable of $3.6 million, primarily as a
result of the increased number of tracks owned and operating at year end.

On May 1, 2002, we entered into an agreement with respect to a $75.0 million senior, unsecured revolving credit
facility.  On October 11, 2002, we entered into an amending agreement to increase this facility from $75.0 million to
$100.0 million. The credit facility has a term of one year, which expires on October 10, 2003, and may be extended,
with the consent of both parties. Under the terms of the agreement, the amount available under the credit facility will
be reduced to $50.0 million on April 30, 2003. At December 31, 2002, we had borrowed $49.5 million and issued letters
of credit totaling $20.0 million under this facility.

One of our subsidiaries, The Santa Anita Companies, Inc., is party to a secured term loan facility, which bears
interest at LIBOR plus 2.2% per annum. We have entered into an interest rate swap contract and fixed the rate of
interest at 6.0% per annum to November 30, 2004, the maturity date of the term loan facility. At December 31, 2002,
$55.7 million was outstanding under this fully drawn term loan facility.

Also, two of our subsidiaries, which are part of The Maryland Jockey Club, are party to secured term loan facilities
which bear interest at 6.5% and 7.0% per annum, respectively.  Both term loans have interest rate adjustment clauses
which reset to the market rate for a U.S. Treasury security of an equivalent term plus 2.6% at set dates prescribed in
the agreements. At December 31, 2002, $19.6 million and $4.9 million, respectively, were outstanding under these
fully drawn term loan facilities which mature on December 1, 2013 and June 7, 2017, respectively.

On December 2, 2002, we issued $75.0 million of 7.25% convertible subordinated notes, which are convertible at
any time at the option of the holders into shares of Class A Subordinate Voting Stock at a conversion price of $8.50
per share, subject to adjustments under certain circumstances, and mature on December 15, 2009. The notes are
redeemable at the principal amount together with accrued and unpaid interest, at the Company’s option, under certain
conditions on or after December 21, 2005. At December 31, 2002, all of the notes remained outstanding.
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On November 27, 2002, contemporaneous with our acquisition of The Maryland Jockey Club, the Company
granted the remaining minority interest shareholders of The Maryland Jockey Club the option to sell such interest to
us, at any time during the first five years after closing of the acquisition. A cash payment of $18.3 million plus interest
will be required on exercise of the option.

At December 31, 2002, we had cash and cash equivalents of $87.7 million and total shareholders’ equity of
$720.9 million. At December 31, 2002, we also had unused and available credit facilities of approximately $50.5 million.

We believe that our current cash resources, cash flow from our racing and real estate operations, including the sale
of Non-Core Real Estate, and cash available under our credit facilities described above will be sufficient to finance our
operations and our maintenance capital expenditure program during the next year. However, in order to complete our
acquisition and strategic capital programs, we will be required to seek additional debt and/or equity financing through
public or private sources. If such additional financing is not available to us as needed or on terms acceptable to us, we
may not be able to complete our acquisition or strategic capital programs.

Qualitative and Quantitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Our primary exposure to market risk related to financial instruments (or the risk of loss arising from adverse
changes in market rates and prices, including interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates and commodity prices) is
with respect to our investments in companies with a functional currency other than the U.S. dollar. Fluctuations in the
U.S. dollar exchange rate relative to the Canadian dollar and the Euro will result in fluctuations in shareholders’ equity
and comprehensive income. We have generally not entered into derivative financial arrangements for currency hedging
purposes, and have not and will not enter into such arrangements for speculative purposes.

Additionally, we are exposed to interest rate risk. Interest rates are sensitive to many factors, including governmental
monetary and tax policies, domestic and international economic and political considerations and other factors that are
beyond our control.

Our future earnings, cash flows and fair values relating to financial instruments are primarily dependent upon
prevalent market rates of interest, such as LIBOR and EURIBOR. Based on interest rates at December 31, 2002 and
our current credit facilities, a 1% per annum increase or decrease in interest rates on our line of credit and other variable
rate borrowings would not materially affect our annual future earnings and cash flows. Based on borrowing rates
currently available to us, the carrying amount of our debt approximates its fair value.

In order to mitigate a portion of the interest rate risk associated with our variable rate debt, we have entered into
an interest rate swap contract. Under the terms of this contract, the Company receives a LIBOR based variable interest
rate and pays a fixed rate of 6.0% on a notional amount of $55.7 million as at December 31, 2002. The maturity date
of this contract is November 30, 2004.

Accounting Developments

Under Staff Accounting Bulletin 74, we are required to disclose certain information related to new accounting
standards, which have not yet been adopted due to delayed effective dates.

During 2001, the Financial Account Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Statement No. 143 (“SFAS 143”)
Accounting For Asset Retirement Obligations. SFAS 143 requires that legal obligations arising from the retirement of
tangible long-lived assets, including obligations identified by a company upon acquisition and construction and during
the operating life of a long-lived asset, be recorded and amortized over the asset’s useful life using a systematic and
rational allocation method. SFAS 143 is effective for fiscal years starting after June 15, 2002.

During 2002, FASB issued Statement No. 146 (“SFAS 146”), Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or
Disposal Activities. SFAS 146 requires that costs associated with an exit or disposal activity be recognized and measured
at fair value in the period, which the liability is incurred. SFAS 146 is effective for exit or disposal activities that are
initiated after December 31, 2002.
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In 2002, FASB issued Interpretation No. 45 (“FIN 45”), Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements
for Guarantees, including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others. FIN 45 requires guarantees to be recorded
at fair value; previously a liability was only recorded when a loss under a guarantee was probable and reasonably
estimable. The initial recognition and measurement provisions of FIN 45 are applicable on a prospective basis to
guarantees issued or modified after December 21, 2002.

Although we are currently reviewing SFAS 143, SFAS 146 and the recognition and measurement requirements of
FIN 45, we have not determined the impact, if any, of these pronouncements on our consolidated financial statements.

Forward-looking Statements

This Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Position contains forward-
looking statements as defined by the U.S. Securities Act of 1933 and the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
These forward-looking statements may include, among others, statements regarding: expectations as to operational
improvements; expectations as to cost savings, revenue growth and earnings; the time by which certain objectives will
be achieved; estimates of costs relating to environmental remediation and restoration; proposed new products and
services; expectations that claims, lawsuits, environmental costs, commitments, contingent liabilities, labor negotiations
or agreements, or other matters will not have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position, operating
results, prospects or liquidity; projections, predictions, expectations, estimates or forecasts as to our financial and
operating results and future economic performance; and other matters that are not historical facts.

Forward-looking statements should not be read as guarantees of future performance or results, and will not
necessarily be accurate indications of whether or the times at or by which such performance or results will be achieved.
Forward-looking statements are based on information available at the time and/or management’s good faith belief with
respect to future events, and are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual performance or results to
differ materially from those expressed in the statements.

Important factors that could cause such differences include, but are not limited to, the factors discussed in the
“Risk Factors” section of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002 and our
subsequent public filings.

Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date the statement was made. We assume no obligation to
update forward-looking information to reflect actual results, changes in assumptions or changes in other factors affecting
forward-looking information. If we update one or more forward-looking statements, no inference should be drawn that
we will make additional updates with respect thereto or with respect to other forward-looking statements.
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MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING

MAGNA ENTERTAINMENT CORP.

MEC’s management is responsible for the preparation and presentation of the consolidated financial statements and all the information
in this Annual Report. The consolidated financial statements were prepared by management in accordance with United States generally
accepted accounting principles. Where alternative accounting methods exist, management has selected those it considered to be most
appropriate in the circumstances. Financial statements include certain amounts based on estimates and judgements. Management has
determined such amounts on a reasonable basis designed to ensure that the consolidated financial statements are presented fairly, in all
material respects. Financial information presented elsewhere in this Annual Report has been prepared by management to ensure consistency
with that in the consolidated financial statements. The consolidated financial statements have been reviewed by the Audit Committee and
approved by the Board of Directors of MEC.

Management is responsible for the development and maintenance of systems of internal accounting and administrative cost controls of
high quality, consistent with reasonable cost. Such systems are designed to provide reasonable assurance that the financial information is
accurate, relevant and reliable and that the Company’s assets are appropriately accounted for and adequately safeguarded.

The Company’s Audit Committee is appointed by its Board of Directors annually and is comprised solely of outside directors.
The Committee meets periodically with management, as well as with the independent auditors, to satisfy itself that each is properly discharging
its responsibilities, to review the consolidated financial statements and the independent auditors’ report and to discuss significant financial
reporting issues and auditing matters. The Audit Committee reports its findings to the Board of Directors for consideration when approving
the consolidated financial statements for issuance to the shareholders.

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, the independent auditors, in accordance with United
States generally accepted auditing standards on behalf of the shareholders. The Report of the Independent Auditors outlines the nature of
their examination and their opinion on the consolidated financial statements of the Company. The independent auditors have full and
unrestricted access to the Audit Committee.

Toronto, Canada Graham J. Orr
February 7, 2003 Executive Vice-President and Chief Financial Officer

REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

To the Shareholders of Magna Entertainment Corp.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Magna Entertainment Corp. as of December 31, 2002 and 2001,
and the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss), changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flows for
each of the years in the three year period ended December 31, 2002. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with United States generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of
Magna Entertainment Corp. at December 31, 2002 and 2001, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of
the years in the three year period ended December 31, 2002, in conformity with United States generally accepted accounting principles.

As described in note 2 to these consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its accounting policies for goodwill and other
intangible assets.

Toronto, Canada Ernst & Young LLP
February 7, 2003

564_FIN_P36  3/16/03  12:51 PM  Page 36



37

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

[U.S. dollars in thousands, except per share figures]
Years ended December 31,

Note 2002 2001 2000

Revenues 16, 17
Racing

Gross wagering $450,732 $393,981 $301,288
Non-wagering 71,889 65,430 53,961

522,621 459,411 355,249
Real estate

Sale of real estate 8,891 40,600 37,630
Rental and other 17,709 19,050 20,684

26,600 59,650 58,314
549,221 519,061 413,563

Costs and expenses
Racing

Purses, awards and other 276,019 243,389 190,043
Operating costs 183,370 152,561 128,612
General and administrative 41,522 31,092 18,117

Real estate
Cost of real estate sold 6,718 20,171 30,656
Operating costs 13,621 15,789 18,928
General and administrative 2,266 1,130 1,133

Predevelopment and other costs 2,299 3,240 4,245
Depreciation and amortization 22,834 26,194 20,061
Interest expense, net 11 709 2,682 215
Write-down of long-lived and intangible assets 4 17,493 – –
Write-down of excess real estate 5 5,823 – –
Equity income 3 (463) – –

572,211 496,248 412,010
Income (loss) before income taxes (22,990) 22,813 1,553
Income tax provision (benefit) 9 (8,595) 9,349 1,112
Net income (loss) (14,395) 13,464 441
Other comprehensive income (loss)

Foreign currency translation adjustment 14 16,335 (9,062) (8,938)
Change in fair value of interest rate swap 15 (1,306) – –

Comprehensive income (loss)  $      634 $  4,402 $ (8,497)
Earnings (loss) per share for Class A 

Subordinate Voting Stock, Class B
Stock or Exchangeable Share:

Basic 13 $   (0.14) $    0.16 $    0.01
Diluted 13 $    (0.14) $    0.16 $     0.01

Average number of shares of Class A 
Subordinate Voting Stock, Class B
Stock and Exchangeable Shares outstanding
during the year [in thousands]:
Basic 13 100,674 82,930 80,422
Diluted 13 100,674 83,242 80,424

See accompanying notes

MAGNA ENTERTAINMENT CORP.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

[U.S. dollars in thousands]
Years ended December 31,

Note 2002 2001 2000

Cash provided from (used for)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net income (loss) $(14,395) $13,464 $    441
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net
cash provided by (used in) operating activities

Depreciation and amortization 22,834 26,194 20,061
Future income taxes 9 (9,409) 7,082 (5,802)
Gain on disposal of real estate properties (2,173) (20,429) (6,974)
Write-down of long-lived and intangible assets 4 17,493 – –
Write-down of excess real estate 5 5,823 – –
Equity income 3 (463) – –
Other 33 – –

19,743 26,311 7,726
Changes in non-cash working capital

Restricted cash 4,279 (5,053) (5,709)
Accounts receivable (3,361) (1,587) (4,139)
Prepaid expenses and other (1,994) 3,325 1,563
Accounts payable 11,606 769 (5,114)
Accrued salaries and wages 1,220 (443) 3,172
Customer deposits 552 2,181 –
Other accrued liabilities (4,751) 3,278 (6,840)
Income taxes receivable (8,128) (5,023) (6,146)
Deferred revenue 1,020 1,871 (622)

443 (682) (23,835)
20,186 25,629 (16,109)

INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES:
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash 3 (146,304) (23,951) (24,117)
Real estate property additions (99,109) (31,009) (46,493)
Fixed asset additions (8,056) (7,853) (7,535)
Other assets (additions) disposals 8 (26,653) (1,208) 9,493
Proceeds on real estate sold to a related party 17 42,363 12,436 6,147
Proceeds on disposal of real estate 11,510 44,039 27,250

(226,249) (7,546) (35,255)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Increase (decrease) in bank indebtedness 10 49,475 (7,609) 759
Issuance of long-term debt 906 15,000 48,000
Repayment of long-term debt (15,828) (18,026) (15,853)
Issuance of share capital 13 142,422 476 –
Issuance of convertible subordinated notes 12 72,200 – –

249,175 (10,159) 32,906
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash

and cash equivalents 5,357 (688) (226)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash

equivalents during the year 48,469 7,236 (18,684)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 39,212 31,976 50,660
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 87,681 $39,212 $31,976

See accompanying notes

MAGNA ENTERTAINMENT CORP.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

[U.S. dollars and share amounts in thousands]
December 31,

Note 2002 2001

ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $   87,681 $ 39,212
Restricted cash 18,692 18,782
Accounts receivable 46,138 33,101
Income taxes receivable 9 2,262 –
Prepaid expenses and other 8,094 5,162

162,867 96,257
Real estate properties, net 6 717,446 542,006
Fixed assets, net 7 34,684 32,671
Other assets, net 8 329,705 179,665
Future tax assets 9 12,103 7,174

$1,256,805 $857,773

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Bank indebtedness 10 $    49,475 $         –
Accounts payable 82,407 46,036
Accrued salaries and wages 8,391 7,171
Customer deposits 2,733 2,181
Other accrued liabilities 12,667 17,418
Income taxes payable 9 – 1,312
Long-term debt due within one year 11 15,049 18,133
Deferred revenue 6,551 5,531

177,273 97,782
Long-term debt 11 117,801 67,768
Convertible subordinated notes 12 72,233 –
Other long-term liabilities 19 8,405 2,576
Future tax liabilities 9 160,191 121,793

Commitments and contingencies 17, 18

Shareholders’ equity:
Class A Subordinate Voting Stock 

(Issued: 2002 - 48,648; 2001 - 22,324) 13 316,855 157,633
Exchangeable Shares

(Issued: 2002 - nil; 2001 - 2,263) 13 – 16,800
Class B Stock

(Issued: 2002 and 2001 - 58,466) 13 394,094 394,094
Contributed surplus 17 17,282 7,290
Retained earnings (deficit) (2,921) 11,474
Accumulated comprehensive loss 14, 15 (4,408) (19,437)

720,902 567,854
$1,256,805 $857,773

See accompanying notes

On behalf of the Board: Director Director

MAGNA ENTERTAINMENT CORP.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES

IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

[U.S. dollars in thousands]
Class A

Subordinate Retained Accumulated
Voting Exchangeable Class B Contributed Earnings Comprehensive
Stock Shares Stock Surplus (Deficit)   Loss

Balances at December 31, 1999 $ 11,500 $ 110,000 $ 429,455 $   – $ (2,431) $ (1,437)
Activity for the year ended

December 31, 2000:
Net income 441
Net gain on sale of real estate

to a related party (note 17) 1,352
Other comprehensive loss (8,938)
Conversion of Class B Stock to

Class A Subordinate Voting Stock 35,361 (35,361)
Issue of Class A Subordinate Voting    

Stock for an acquisition 1,846
Conversion of Exchangeable Shares to 

Class A Subordinate Voting Stock 52,063 (52,063)

Balances at December 31, 2000 100,770 57,937 394,094 1,352 (1,990) (10,375)
Activity for the year ended

December 31, 2001:
Net income 13,464
Net gain on sale of real estate

to a related party (note 17) 5,938
Other comprehensive loss (9,062)
Issue of Class A Subordinate Voting

Stock for acquisitions 15,250
Issue of Class A Subordinate Voting Stock

under the Long-term Incentive Plan 476
Conversion of Exchangeable Shares to

Class A Subordinate Voting Stock 41,137 (41,137)

Balances at December 31, 2001 157,633 16,800 394,094 7,290 11,474 (19,437)
Activity for the year ended

December 31, 2002:
Net loss (14,395)
Net gain on sale of real estate to

a related party (note 17) 9,992
Foreign currency translation adjustment (note 14) 16,335
Change in fair value of interest rate swap (note 15) (1,306)
Issue of Class A Subordinate Voting Stock

on completion of public offering (note 13) 142,084
Issue of Class A Subordinate Voting Stock

on exercise of stock options (note 13) 87
Issue of Class A Subordinate Voting Stock

under the Long-term Incentive Plan (note 13) 251
Conversion of Exchangeable Shares to Class A

Subordinate Voting Stock (note 13) 16,800 (16,800)
Balances at December 31, 2002 $316,855 $ – $394,094 $17,282 $(2,921) $(4,408)

See accompanying notes

MAGNA ENTERTAINMENT CORP.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MAGNA ENTERTAINMENT CORP.

(all amounts in U.S. dollars unless otherwise noted and all tabular amounts in thousands, except per share figures)

1. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in U.S. dollars following United States generally
accepted accounting principles (“U.S. GAAP”). These policies are also in conformity, in all material respects, with
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles, except as described in note 20 to these consolidated financial
statements.

Principles of Consolidation

These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Magna Entertainment Corp. and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Company”). All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on account, demand deposits and short-term investments with original
maturities of less than three months at acquisition and exclude restricted cash which represents segregated cash
accounts held by the Company on behalf of others, primarily horse owners.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 144 (“SFAS 144”) “Accounting for the Impairment or
Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” establishes accounting standards for the impairment of long-lived assets, including real
estate properties, fixed and other assets. The Company evaluates impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable.

For long-lived assets not available for sale, the Company assesses annually whether there are indicators of impairment.
If such indicators are present, the Company assesses the recoverability of the long-lived assets by determining whether
the carrying value of such assets can be recovered through projected undiscounted cash flows. If the sum of expected
future cash flows, undiscounted and without interest charges, is less than net book value, the excess of the net book
value over the estimated fair value, based on using discounted future cash flows and appraisals, is charged to operations
in the period in which such impairment is determined by management.

When long-lived assets are identified by the Company as available for sale, if necessary, the carrying value is
reduced to the estimated fair value less costs of disposal. Fair value is determined based upon discounted cash flows of
the assets, appraisals and, if appropriate, current estimated net sales proceeds from pending offers.

Real Estate Properties

Revenue-Producing Racing Real Estate

Revenue-producing racing real estate is valued at cost which includes acquisition and development costs.
Development costs include all direct construction costs, capitalized interest and indirect costs wholly attributable to
development. Buildings are depreciated on a straight-line basis over 40 years.

Excess Racing Real Estate

Excess racing real estate is valued at cost which includes acquisition and development costs. Development costs
include all direct construction costs, capitalized interest and indirect costs wholly attributable to development.

564_FIN_P41  3/15/03  9:16 AM  Page 41



42

Development Real Estate

Development real estate is valued at cost which includes acquisition and development costs. Development costs
include all direct construction costs, capitalized interest and indirect costs wholly attributable to development.

Revenue-Producing Non-Racing Real Estate

Revenue-producing non-racing real estate includes golf courses as well as residential development real estate.
Revenue-producing non-racing real estate is valued at cost which includes acquisition and development costs.
Development costs include all direct construction costs, capitalized interest and indirect costs wholly attributable to
development. Buildings are depreciated on a straight-line basis over 40 years.

Non-Core Real Estate

Non-core real estate includes properties available for sale. Properties available for sale are valued at the lower of
cost, which includes acquisition and development costs, and fair value less costs of disposal. The Company evaluates
the lower of cost and fair value less costs of disposal whenever events or changes in circumstance indicate possible
impairment.

Fixed Assets

Fixed assets are recorded at cost, less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis
over the estimated useful lives of the fixed assets as follows: machinery and equipment over 3 to 15 years and furniture
and fixtures over 5 to 7 years.

Government grants and tax credits received for capital expenditures are reflected as a reduction of the cost of the
related asset.

Racing Licenses and Goodwill

Racing licenses represent the value attributed to licenses to conduct race meets acquired through the Company’s
acquisition of racetracks. Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price of a subsidiary company over the fair
value of the underlying net identifiable assets arising on acquisition.  In accordance with Financial Accounting
Standards Board Statement No. 142 (“SFAS 142”), “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”, the Company has applied
the non-amortization and impairment rules for existing goodwill and other intangible assets that meet the criteria for
indefinite life, effective January 1, 2002. Racing licenses and goodwill are evaluated for impairment on an annual basis
or when impairment indicators are present. An impairment write-down to fair value would occur if discounted cash
flows from operations net of the fair value of the long-lived assets was less than the carrying amount of the racing
license or goodwill.

Revenue Recognition

The Company records operating revenues associated with horse racing on a daily basis, except for season admissions
which are recorded ratably over the racing season. Wagering revenues are recognized gross of purses, stakes and
awards and pari-mutuel wagering taxes. The costs relating to these amounts are shown as “Purses, awards and other”
in the accompanying statement of operations and comprehensive income (loss).

Revenues from the sale of residential development inventory are recognized in two phases. First, revenue related
to sale of land is recognized when the title to the land passes to the purchaser and collection is reasonably assured.
The remaining revenue is recognized when the unit is constructed by the independent contractor and the collection of
the sale proceeds is reasonably assured and all other significant conditions are met. Properties which have been sold,
but for which these criteria have not been satisfied, are included in residential development real estate.

Golf course annual membership fee revenues are recognized as revenue ratably over the applicable season.
Non-refundable golf membership initiation fees are deferred and amortized over the expected membership life.
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Deferred Revenues

Deferred revenues associated with racing operations consist primarily of prepaid box seats, admission tickets and
parking, which are recognized as revenue ratably over the period of the related race meet.

Seasonality of Revenues

The Company’s racing business is seasonal in nature. The Company’s racing revenues and operating results for any
quarter will not be indicative of the revenues and operating results for the year. A disproportionate share of annual
revenues and net earnings are earned in the first quarter of each year.

Advertising

Costs incurred for producing advertising associated with horse racing are generally expensed when the advertising
program commences. Costs incurred with respect to promotions for specific live race days are expensed on the applicable
race day.

Foreign Exchange

Assets and liabilities of self-sustaining foreign operations are translated using the exchange rate in effect at the
year-end and revenues and expenses are translated at the average rate during the year. The accumulated exchange gain
or loss resulting from translating each foreign subsidiary’s financial statements from its functional currency to U.S. dollars
is included in comprehensive income (loss) in shareholders’ equity. The appropriate amounts of exchange gains or losses
included in accumulated comprehensive income (loss) are reflected in income when there is a sale or partial sale of the
Company’s investment in these operations or upon a complete or substantially complete liquidation of the investment.

Income Taxes

The Company follows the liability method of tax allocation for accounting for income taxes. Under the liability
method of tax allocation, future tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between financial reporting
and tax bases of assets and liabilities, and are measured using enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when
the differences are expected to reverse.

Stock-based Compensation

Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 123 (“SFAS 123”), “Accounting and Disclosure of Stock-
Based Compensation” provides companies an alternative to accounting for stock-based compensation as prescribed
under APB Opinion No. 25 (“APB 25”). SFAS 123 encourages, but does not require companies to recognize an
expense for stock-based awards based on their fair value at date of grant. SFAS 123 allows companies to continue to
follow existing accounting rules (intrinsic value method under APB 25 which does not give rise to an expense) provided
that pro-forma disclosures are made of what net income (loss) and earnings (loss) per share would have been had the
fair value method been used.  The Company accounts for stock-based compensation under APB 25 and provides
pro-forma disclosure required by SFAS 123.
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The pro-forma impact on net income (loss) and earnings (loss) per share if the Company had applied the fair value
recognition provisions of SFAS 123 to stock-based compensation, is as follows:

Years ended December 31,
2002 2001 2000

Net income (loss), as reported $(14,395) $13,464 $     441
Pro-forma stock compensation expense determined
under the fair value method, net of tax (3,009) (2,815) (213)
Pro-forma net income (loss) $(17,404) $10,649 $     228

Earnings (loss) per share
Basic - as reported $ (0.14) $ 0.16 $   0.01
Basic - pro-forma $ (0.17) $ 0.13 $ 0.00
Diluted - as reported $ (0.14) $ 0.16 $ 0.01
Diluted - pro-forma $ (0.17) $ 0.13 $ 0.00

Earnings per Share

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted average number of shares of
Class A Subordinate Voting Stock, shares of Class B Stock and Exchangeable Shares outstanding during the year.
Diluted earnings per share reflects the assumed conversion of all dilutive securities using the treasury stock method.

Under the treasury stock method:

• The convertible subordinated notes are assumed to be converted at the beginning of the period (or at the 
issuance, if later) and net income is increased by related interest;

• The exercise of options is assumed to be at the beginning of the period (or at the time of issuance, if later);
• The proceeds from the exercise of options are assumed to be used to purchase Class A Subordinate Voting 

Stock at the average market price during the period; and
• The incremental number of shares of Class A Subordinate Voting Stock (the difference between the number 

of shares assumed issued and the number of shares assumed purchased) is included in the denominator of the
diluted earnings per share calculation.

Interest Rate Swaps

The Company utilizes, on occasion, interest rate swap contracts to hedge exposure to interest rate fluctuations on
its variable rate debt. The fair value of the swaps is recorded on the balance sheet as an asset or liability with the offset
recorded in other comprehensive income net of income taxes. Any changes in the market value of the swaps are
adjusted to the asset or liability account and recorded net of income taxes in other comprehensive income.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles
requires management to make estimates that affect the amounts reported and disclosed in the consolidated financial
statements. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Impact of Recently Issued Accounting Standards

Under Staff Accounting Bulletin 74, the Company is required to disclose certain information related to new
accounting standards, which have not yet been adopted due to delayed effective dates.

During 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”), issued Statement No. 143 (“SFAS 143”),
“Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations”. SFAS 143 requires that legal obligations arising from the retirement of
tangible long-lived assets, including obligations identified by a company upon acquisition and construction and during
the operating life of a long-lived asset, be recorded and amortized over the asset’s useful life using a systematic and
rational allocation method. SFAS 143 is effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2002.
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During 2002, FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 146, “Accounting for Costs
Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities” (“SFAS 146”). SFAS 146 requires that costs associated with an exit or disposal
activity be recognized and measured at fair value in the period which the liability is incurred. SFAS 146 is effective for
exit or disposal activities that are initiated after December 31, 2002.

During 2002, FASB issued Interpretation No. 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for
Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others” (“FIN 45”). FIN 45 requires certain guarantees
to be recorded at fair value; previously a liability was only recorded when a loss under a guarantee was probable and
reasonably estimable. The initial recognition and measurement provisions of FIN 45 are applicable on a prospective
basis to guarantees issued or modified after December 31, 2002.

Although the Company is currently reviewing SFAS 143 and SFAS 146, and the recognition and measurement
requirements of FIN 45, the impact, if any, of these pronouncements on its consolidated financial statements has not
been determined.

Reclassification

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s method of presentation.

2. ACCOUNTING CHANGE

Effective January 1, 2002, the Company implemented SFAS 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”.
SFAS 142 requires the application of the non-amortization and impairment rules for existing goodwill and other intangible
assets that meet the criteria for indefinite life beginning January 1, 2002.

The following is the pro-forma impact of the implementation of SFAS 142:

Years ended December 31,
2002 2001 2000

Net income (loss), as reported $(14,395) $13,464 $   441
Amortization of racing licenses and goodwill, net of taxes – 4,822 3,056
Adjusted net income (loss) $(14,395) $18,286 $ 3,497

Basic and diluted earnings per share:
As reported $  (0.14) $  0.16 $ 0.01
Amortization of racing licenses and goodwill – $   0.06 $  0.03
Adjusted basic and diluted earnings per share $   (0.14) $   0.22 $  0.04

3. BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS

The following acquisitions were accounted for using the purchase method:

[a] Acquisitions in the year ended December 31, 2002

Lone Star Park at Grand Prairie

On October 23, 2002, the Company completed the acquisition of substantially all the operations and related 
assets of Lone Star Park at Grand Prairie, for a total cash purchase price, including transaction costs, of $79.1 million,
net of cash acquired of $1.8 million. Lone Star Park at Grand Prairie operates Thoroughbred and American 
Quarter Horse race meets at its racetrack located near Dallas, Texas.
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The Maryland Jockey Club

On November 27, 2002, the Company completed the acquisition of a controlling interest in the Pimlico Race 
Course and Laurel Park, which are operated under the trade name “The Maryland Jockey Club (“MJC”)”, for 
a total purchase price, including transaction costs, of $84.9 million, net of cash acquired of $5.3 million.
The total purchase price was satisfied by cash payments of $66.6 million and the obligation to pay $18.3 million, 
which bears interest at the six month London Inter-bank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”), upon the exercise of either 
the put or call option described below. Under the terms of the agreements, the Company acquired a 51% equity 
and voting interest in The Maryland Jockey Club of Baltimore City, Inc., the owner of Pimlico Race Course, a 51%
voting interest and a 58% equity interest on a fully diluted basis in Laurel Racing Assoc., Inc., the general partner 
and manager of Laurel Racing Association Limited Partnership (“LRALP”), the owner of Laurel Park, and the 
entire limited partnership interest in LRALP. The Company also purchased options from the De Francis family to
buy their remaining voting and equity interests in MJC, which represent all of the minority interests, at any time 
during the period starting 48 months and ending 60 months after the closing of the transaction. The Company 
has also granted the De Francis family the option to sell such interests to the Company at any time during the 
first five years after the closing. In consideration for these options, the Company paid $18.4 million on closing 
and an additional $18.3 million, plus interest at the six month LIBOR, will be paid on exercise of the options.
The put and call options are viewed, for accounting purposes, on a combined basis with the minority interest and 
accounted for as a financing of the Company’s purchase of such minority interest. Accordingly, the Company has 
consolidated 100% of the operations of MJC from the date of acquisition. Pimlico Race Course, the home of the 
Preakness Stakes®, the middle jewel in thoroughbred racing’s Triple Crown, and Laurel Park, are located in the 
Baltimore, Maryland area.

The purchase price of these acquisitions has been allocated to the assets and liabilities acquired as follows:

Lone Star Park The Maryland
at Grand Prairie Jockey Club Other Total

Non-cash working capital deficit $ (4,087) $(12,159) $(384) $ (16,630)
Real estate properties and fixed assets 64,010 70,458 393 134,861
Other assets 34,797 96,832 585 132,214
Debt due within one year (62) (1,041) – (1,103)
Long-term debt (15,563) (25,489) – (41,052)
Future taxes – (43,674) – (43,674)
Net assets acquired and total 
purchase price, net of cash acquired $79,095 $ 84,927 $ 594 $164,616
The purchase consideration for these
acquisitions is as follows:
Cash $79,095 $ 66,615 $ 594 $146,304
Issuance of long-term debt (note 11) – 18,312 – 18,312

$79,095 $ 84,927 $ 594 $164,616

The purchase price and related allocations for these acquisitions are preliminary. Adjustments to the purchase 
price and related preliminary allocations may occur as a result of obtaining more information regarding asset
valuations, liabilities assumed, purchase price adjustments pursuant to the purchase agreements, and revisions of 
preliminary estimates of fair values made at the date of purchase.

Flamboro Downs

On October 18, 2002, the shares of Flamboro Downs Holdings Limited, the owner and operator of Flamboro 
Downs, a harness racetrack located in Hamilton, Ontario, 45 miles west of Toronto, were acquired by Ontario 
Racing Inc. (“ORI”).  Flamboro Downs also houses a gaming facility with 750 slot machines operated by the 
Ontario Lottery and Gaming Corporation (“OLGC”). ORI is a former subsidiary of the Company that is presently
owned by an employee of the Company. Five business days after the Company receives all necessary regulatory 
approvals for the acquisition of Flamboro Downs, the shares of ORI will be transferred to the Company.
The results of operations of ORI, which owns Flamboro Downs, have been accounted for under the equity method
pending receipt of the approvals, which are expected to be received in the spring of 2003.
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The purchase price, net of cash, was approximately $55.9 million, consisting of a cash payment of $23.1 million 
on closing, with the remainder satisfied by ongoing payments under secured notes of approximately $32.8 million.
In addition, the purchase and sale agreement stipulates that the purchase price may be increased by a maximum 
of $3.5 million (Cdn. $5.5 million), plus accrued interest, in the event that Flamboro Downs’ agreement with the 
OLGC, with respect to the slot facility, is extended. The Company has provided the funding for the acquisition 
cost by way of a revolving secured loan facility to ORI and has guaranteed the secured notes.

As of December 31, 2002, the Company has advanced $23.1 million to ORI, representing acquisition costs, which
is recorded in other assets.

[b] Acquisitions in the year ended December 31, 2001

MEC Pennsylvania

On April 5, 2001, the Company completed the acquisition of Ladbroke Racing Pennsylvania, Inc. and Sport 
Broadcasting, Inc. (collectively the “Ladbroke Companies” or “MEC Pennsylvania”) for a total purchase price, 
including transaction costs, of $46.6 million, net of cash acquired of $7.0 million. The total purchase price was 
satisfied by cash payments of $20.1 million, the issuance of two promissory notes totaling $13.25 million which 
bear interest at 6% per annum, with the first note in the amount of $6,625,000 maturing on the first anniversary 
of the closing date and the second note in the amount of $6,625,000 maturing on the second anniversary of the 
closing date and by the issuance of 3,178,297 shares of Class A Subordinate Voting Stock.  The Ladbroke Companies
include account wagering operations, The Meadows harness racetrack and four off-track betting facilities located 
around the Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania area.

Multnomah Greyhound Park

On October 26, 2001, the Company acquired all the outstanding capital stock of MKC Acquisition Co., operating
as Multnomah Greyhound Park, for a total purchase price, including transaction costs, of $5.9 million, net of cash
acquired of $0.3 million. Of the total purchase price, $3.9 million was paid in cash and the balance of $2.0 million
through the issuance of 330,962 shares of Class A Subordinate Voting Stock. Multnomah Greyhound Park is 
located in Portland, Oregon and operates a greyhound dog racing and pari-mutuel horse wagering business.

The purchase price of these acquisitions has been allocated to the assets and liabilities acquired as follows:

Multnomah
MEC Greyhound

Pennsylvania Park Total
Non-cash working capital deficit $ (6,514) $ (292) $ (6,806)
Real estate properties and fixed assets 19,947 292 20,239
Other assets 60,587 5,910 66,497
Future taxes (27,448) (31) (27,479)
Net assets acquired and total purchase price, net of cash acquired $46,572 $5,879 $52,451

The purchase consideration for these acquisitions is as follows:
Cash $20,072 $3,879 $23,951
Issuance of two promissory notes 13,250 – 13,250
Issuance of Class A Subordinate Voting Stock 13,250 2,000 15,250

$46,572 $5,879 $52,451

[c] Acquisitions in the year ended December 31, 2000

Great Lakes Downs

On February 29, 2000, the Company completed the acquisition of Great Lakes Downs, Inc. (“Great Lakes Downs”)
for a total purchase price, including transaction costs, of $1.8 million, net of cash acquired of $0.08 million.
The total purchase price of $1.8 million was satisfied by the issuance of 267,416 shares of Class A Subordinate 
Voting Stock. Great Lakes Downs, Inc. owns and operates the Great Lakes Downs racetrack, which is located on 
approximately 85 acres of land in the city of Muskegon, Michigan.
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The purchase price of these acquisitions has been allocated to the assets and liabilities acquired as follows:

Great Lakes Bay
Downs Meadows Total

Non-cash working capital (deficit) $(3,370) $ 701 $(2,669)
Real estate properties 7,688 – 7,688
Fixed assets 2,399 1,587 3,986
Other assets 1,340 21,829 23,169
Debt due within one year (447) – (447)
Long-term debt (5,840) – (5,840)
Net assets acquired and total purchase price, net of cash acquired $ 1,770 $24,117 $25,887
The purchase consideration for these acquisitions is as follows:
Cash $ – $24,117 $24,117
Issuance of Class A Subordinate Voting Stock 1,770 – 1,770

$ 1,770 $24,117 $25,887

Bay Meadows

On November 17, 2000, the Company completed the acquisition of Bay Meadows Operating Co., LLC and Bay 
Meadows Catering (collectively “Bay Meadows”) for a total cash purchase price, including transaction costs, of 
$24.1 million, net of cash acquired of $0.09 million. Bay Meadows Operating Co., LLC operates the Bay Meadows
racetrack, which is located in the city of San Mateo, California.

[d] Pro-forma Impact

If the acquisitions completed during the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001 had occurred on January 1, 2001,
the Company’s unaudited pro-forma revenue would have been $708.3 million and $726.3 million for the years 
ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively, unaudited pro-forma net income (loss) would have been 
$(12.9) million and $13.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively, and unaudited 
pro-forma basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share would have been $(0.12) and $0.16 for the years ended 
December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

4. WRITE-DOWN OF LONG-LIVED AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Pursuant to SFAS 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets”, and SFAS 142, 
“Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”, the Company’s long-lived assets and racing licenses were tested for impairment
after completion of the Company’s annual business planning process. As a result of declining attendance and related
revenues at Remington Park and Great Lakes Downs, operating profits and cash flows were lower than expected in
2002. Based on these results, the earnings forecasts for these two racetracks were revised. 

The fair value of the racetracks was determined using the discounted cash flow method, including a probability-
weighted approach in considering the likelihood of possible outcomes. It also includes the estimated future cash flows
associated with the racing licenses and long-lived assets directly associated with, and expected to arise as a direct
result of, the use and disposition of those assets. The fair value determined was then compared to the carrying value of
the racing licenses and long-lived assets in order to determine the amount of the impairment. The long-lived assets
consist of fixed assets and real estate properties.

As a result of the assets’ carrying value exceeding their fair value at Remington Park and Great Lakes Downs, the
Company recognized an impairment in value of $14.7 million related to its long-lived assets, which has been allocated
to the fixed assets and real estate properties on a pro-rata basis using the relative carrying values of the assets, and an
impairment in value of racing licenses of $2.8 million in 2002.
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5. WRITE-DOWN OF EXCESS REAL ESTATE

In November 2002, the Company entered into an agreement with the East Bay Regional Park District, a California
Special District, to sell approximately 16 acres of excess real estate located at Golden Gate Fields in Berkeley, California.
The value of the consideration to be received by the Company for the real estate, excluding certain tax benefits of
$1.4 million, is $8.5 million. The carrying value of the property, prior to entering into the agreement, was $14.3 million
which was based on an allocation of the purchase price for the Golden Gate Fields acquisition in 1999. The transaction
is expected to close in the third quarter of 2003, subject to certain conditions, including the purchaser completing certain
due diligence procedures. In 2002, the Company has recorded a write-down of this real estate which has resulted in a
loss before income taxes and a loss after income taxes of $5.8 million and $2.4 million, respectively.

6. REAL ESTATE PROPERTIES 

Real estate properties consist of: December 31,
2002 2001

Revenue-producing racing real estate
Cost

Land and improvements $207,338 $169,048
Buildings 222,661 155,256
Construction in progress 55,742 6,996

485,741 331,300
Accumulated depreciation

Buildings (19,298) (12,650)
Revenue-producing racing real estate, net 466,443 318,650

Excess racing real estate 100,285 89,455

Development real estate
Cost

Land and improvements 41,008 40,510
Construction in progress 30,376 3,780

Development real estate 71,384 44,290

Revenue-producing non-racing real estate
Cost

Land and improvements 29,186 27,419
Buildings 45,041 37,561

74,227 64,980
Accumulated depreciation

Buildings (5,720) (3,974)
Revenue-producing non-racing real estate, net 68,507 61,006

Non-core real estate
Land and improvements 10,746 18,863
Buildings 1,542 14,190

12,288 33,053
Accumulated depreciation

Buildings (1,461) (4,448)
Non-core real estate, net 10,827 28,605

$717,446 $542,006

The classifications of properties above represent the Company’s current intentions with respect to future use
(e.g. development or sale).
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7. FIXED ASSETS 

Fixed assets consist of: December 31,
2002 2001

Revenue-producing racing fixed assets
Cost

Machinery and equipment $ 43,957 $ 37,008
Furniture and fixtures 11,752 10,785

55,709 47,793
Accumulated depreciation

Machinery and equipment (23,408) (17,489)
Furniture and fixtures (3,380) (1,510)

Revenue-producing racing fixed assets, net 28,921 28,794

Revenue-producing non-racing fixed assets
Cost

Machinery and equipment 3,835 2,232
Furniture and fixtures 6,240 4,481

10,075 6,713
Accumulated depreciation

Machinery and equipment (2,054) (1,009)
Furniture and fixtures (2,258) (1,827)

Revenue-producing non-racing fixed assets, net 5,763 3,877
$ 34,684 $ 32,671

8. OTHER ASSETS

Other assets consist of: December 31,
2002 2001

Racing licenses
Balance, beginning of the year $170,355 $107,859
Adjustment to purchase price allocation for Multnomah Greyhound Park (3,692) –
Acquired during the year 130,076 70,492
Write-down of racing licenses (note 4) (2,753) –
Amortization – (7,996)
Balance, end of year 293,986 170,355

Receivable from Ontario Racing Inc. (note 3) 23,726 –
Investments, long-term receivables and other 10,639 8,574
Goodwill, net 1,354 736

$329,705 $179,665

9. INCOME TAXES

[a] The provision for income taxes differs from the expense that would be obtained by applying the United States
federal statutory rate as a result of the following:

Years ended December 31,
2002 2001 2000

Expected provision:
Federal statutory income tax rate (35%) $(8,046) $7,985 $ 544
State income tax, net of federal benefit 490 571 84
Tax losses not benefited (utilized) (1,064) 262 203
Foreign rate differentials 60 546 242
Other (35) (15) 39
Income tax provision $(8,595) $9,349 $1,112
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At December 31, 2002, the Company had United States federal and Austrian income tax loss carry-forwards 
totaling approximately $17.8 million. Of the $17.8 million in loss carry-forwards at December 31, 2002,
$5.8 million have no expiration date and the remainder expire as follows:

Years:
2008 to 2010 $ 3,100
2012 to 2018 4,800
2020 to 2022 4,100

$12,000

There are annual limitations on the utilization of the loss carry-forwards subject to expiration.

The Company also has U.S. state income tax loss carry-forwards available.

[b] The details of income (loss) before income taxes by jurisdiction are as follows:

Years ended December 31,
2002 2001 2000

United States $(25,811) $ (203) $ (605)
Foreign 2,821 23,016 2,158

$(22,990) $22,813 $ 1,553

[c] The details of the income tax provision (benefit) are as follows:
Years ended December 31,

2002 2001 2000
Current provision

United States $  2,578 $  1,550 $        –
Foreign (1,764) 717 3,160

814 2,267 3,160
Future provision

United States (10,893) (531) (323)
Foreign 1,484 7,613 (1,725)

(9,409) 7,082 (2,048)
$ (8,595) $  9,349 $ 1,112

[d] Future income taxes have been provided on temporary differences, which consist of the following:

Years ended December 31,
2002 2001 2000

Tax deferral on sale of real estate $ 439 $10,448 $        –
Amortization of purchase accounting fair value increments,

for tax purposes in excess of book (book in excess of tax) 946 (2,732) (2,174)
Tax gain in excess of book gain

on disposal of real estate property (426) (2,382) (751)
Tax benefit of charitable contribution carry-forward (1,236) – –
Tax benefit of loss carry-forwards (170) (205) (557)
Utilization of loss carry-forwards – 1,200 1,231
Taxable fee revenue in excess of book (1,712) – –
Write-down of assets for book purposes (6,123) – –
Increase (reduction) in valuation allowance (1,721) (8) 203
Other 594 761 –

$ (9,409) $  7,082 $(2,048)
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[e] Future tax assets and liabilities at December 31, 2002 consist of the following temporary differences:

December 31,
2002 2001

Assets
Real estate properties tax value in excess of book value $ 17,951 $ 12,985
Tax benefit of loss carry-forwards

Pre-acquisition 4,233 1,995
Post-acquisition 1,939 3,626

Tax benefit of charitable contribution carry-forward 1,236 –
Benefit of various tax credit carry-forwards 2,586 3,517

27,945 22,123

Valuation allowance
Valuation allowance against tax basis of loss carry-forwards

Pre-acquisition (4,233) (1,995)
Post-acquisition (1,359) (2,960)

Valuation allowance against tax basis of real estate properties in excess of book value (10,250) (9,994)
Future tax assets $ 12,103 $ 7,174

Liabilities
Real estate properties book basis in excess of tax basis $ 65,697 $ 52,892
Other assets book basis in excess of tax basis 94,362 56,497

Other 132 12,404
Future tax liabilities $160,191 $121,793

[f] Income taxes paid in cash were $5.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2002  (for the year ended
December 31, 2001 - $6.7 million; for the year ended December 31, 2000 - $3.2 million).

10. BANK INDEBTEDNESS

During the year, the Company entered into a credit agreement with respect to a senior, unsecured revolving credit
facility for $100.0 million. The credit facility is available by way of U.S. dollar loans and letters of credit for general
corporate purposes. The facility has been guaranteed by certain subsidiaries of the Company which own and operate
Golden Gate Fields, Gulfstream Park, MEC Pennsylvania and The Maryland Jockey Club and operate Bay Meadows.
As of December 31, 2002, the Company had borrowed $49.5 million and issued letters of credit totalling $20.0 million
under the credit facility, such that $30.5 million was unused and available. Under the terms of the agreement, the amount
available under the credit facility will be reduced to $50.0 million on April 30, 2003. The credit facility expires on
October 10, 2003, unless extended with the consent of both parties.

The loans under the facility bear interest at either the U.S. Base rate or LIBOR plus a margin based on the ratio
of debt to earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization. The weighted average interest rate on the
loans outstanding under the credit facility as at December 31, 2002 was 4.0%.
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11. DEBT AND COMMITMENTS

[a] The Company's long-term debt consists of the following:

December 31,
2002 2001

Term loan facility, bearing interest at LIBOR plus 2.2% per annum (3.6% at December 31,
2002, note 15(c)) with a maturity date of November 30, 2004, secured by a deed of trust
against Santa Anita Park racetrack and related real estate. At December 31, 2002,
the term loan is fully drawn and is repayable in monthly principal amounts of
$350 thousand until maturity. $ 55,650 $59,850

Term loan facilities with the same financial institution, bearing interest at 6.5% per annum
until December 1, 2003, with a maturity date of December 1, 2013. On December 1, 2003
and December 1, 2008, the interest rate is reset to the market rate for a United States
Treasury security of an equivalent term plus 2.6%. The term loans are repayable in quarterly
principal and interest payments. The loans are secured by deeds of trusts on land, buildings
and improvements, and security interests in all other assets of certain entities of
The Maryland Jockey Club. 19,632 –

Obligation to pay $18.3 million on exercise of either the put or call option for the remaining
minority interest in The Maryland Jockey Club, bearing interest at the 6 month LIBOR
(1.4% at December 31, 2002) (note 3). 18,312 –

Capital lease (imputed interest rate of 8.5%) maturing April 1, 2027, secured by buildings
and improvements at Lone Star Park at Grand Prairie. 15,522 –

Bank term line of credit denominated in Euros, bearing interest at EURIBOR plus 0.625%
per annum (3.4% at December 31, 2002). The term line of credit is repayable in annual
installments of $3.0 million (Euros 2.9 million) due in July 2005. The Company has provided
two first mortgages on real estate properties as security for this facility. 9,077 7,695

Promissory note bearing interest at 6.0% per annum, payable in two equal installments,
of which $6.625 million matured in April 2002, and the second installment matures April 2003. 6,625 13,250

Term loan facility, bearing interest at 7.0% per annum until June 7, 2007, with a maturity
date of June 7, 2017. On June 7, 2007 and June 7, 2012, the interest rate is reset to
the market rate for a United States Treasury security of an equivalent term plus 2.6%.
The term loan is repayable in quarterly principal and interest payments. The term loan is
callable on December 31, 2006 or December 31, 2011. The loan is secured by a deed of
trust on land, buildings and improvements, and security interests in all other assets
of certain entities of The Maryland Jockey Club. 4,907 –

Unsecured promissory note bearing interest at 6.1% per annum, with a maturity date of
September 14, 2005. 2,500 –

Non-interest bearing promissory note repaid in the year. – 4,599

Other loans to various subsidiaries from various banks, and city governments,
including mortgage loans, equipment loans and a term loan, with interest rates ranging
from 4.0% to 9.0%. 625 507

132,850 85,901
Less due within one year 15,049 18,133

$117,801 $67,768

The Company is in compliance with all of its debt agreements and related financial covenants.

The overall weighted average interest rate on long-term debt at December 31, 2002 was 5.7% (for the year ended December 31, 2001 - 
5.9%; for the year ended December 31, 2000 - 8.1%).
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[b] Future principal repayments on long-term debt at December 31, 2002 are as follows: 

2003 $ 15,049
2004 55,788
2005 6,896
2006 19,787
2007 1,636
Thereafter 33,694

$132,850

[c] Included within the above schedule of future principal repayments of long-term debt (note 11(b)) is an obligation 
under a capital lease. Future minimum lease payments under the capital lease in effect at December 31, 2002 are 
as follows:

2003 $  1,320
2004 1,320
2005 1,320
2006 1,320
2007 1,452
Thereafter 32,868
Total payments 39,600
Less:  capital lease minimum payments representing interest 24,078
Present value of lease payments $ 15,522

[d] At December 31, 2002, the Company has additional unused and available operating lines of credit totalling
$20.0 million, which are secured by a guarantee, a pledge of stock of a subsidiary, and by assets of certain subsidiaries.

[e] Interest expense and interest income include:

Years ended December 31,
2002 2001 2000

Interest cost, gross $7,099 $6,930 $3,263
Less: Interest capitalized 2,726 1,657 –
Interest expense 4,373 5,273 3,263
Interest income (3,664) (2,591) (3,048)
Interest expense, net $  709 $2,682 $ 215

Interest capitalized relates to real estate properties under development.

Interest paid in cash for the year ended December 31, 2002 was $6.7 million (for the year ended December 31, 
2001 - $7.4 million; for the year ended December 31, 2000 - $2.5 million).

12. CONVERTIBLE SUBORDINATED NOTES

On December 2, 2002, the Company issued $75.0 million of 7.25% convertible subordinated notes which mature
on December 15, 2009. The unsecured notes are convertible at any time at the option of the holders into shares of
Class A Subordinate Voting Stock at a conversion price of $8.50 per share. The conversion price may be adjusted
under certain circumstances. The notes are redeemable in whole or in part, at the Company’s option, on or after
December 21, 2005, at the principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest, provided that, in connection with any
redemption occurring on or after December 21, 2005 and before December 15, 2007, the closing price of the Class A
Subordinate Voting Stock has exceeded 125% of the conversion price for at least 20 trading days in the 30 consecutive
trading day period ending on the trading day prior to mailing of the notice of redemption. At December 31, 2002, all
the notes remained outstanding.

The Company incurred issue expenses of $2.8 million, which have been recorded as a reduction of the outstanding
notes balance. The notes balance will be accreted to its face value over the term to maturity.
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13. CAPITAL STOCK

[a] The Company’s authorized, issued and outstanding capital stock is as follows:

Class A Subordinate Voting Stock with a par value of $0.01 per share [authorized – 310,000,000] have the
following attributes:

[i] Each share is entitled to one vote per share at all meetings of stockholders.

[ii] Each share shall participate equally as to dividends with each share of Class B Stock and each Exchangeable 
Share.

Class B Stock with a par value of $0.01 per share [authorized – 90,000,000] have the following attributes:

[i] Each share is entitled to 20 votes per share at all meetings of stockholders.

[ii] Each share shall participate equally as to dividends with each share of Class A Subordinate Voting Stock and 
each Exchangeable Share.

[iii]Each share may be converted at any time into a fully-paid share of Class A Subordinate Voting Stock.

Exchangeable Shares, which were called for redemption on December 30, 2002, had the following attributes:

[i] Each share was entitled, by the holder thereof instructing Magna International Inc. (“Magna”) to exercise one
vote attached to a share of the Company’s Class A Subordinate Voting Stock or Class B Stock held by Magna,
to one vote per share at all meetings of stockholders of the Company, but were non-voting with respect to 
MEC Holdings (Canada) Inc.

[ii] Each share would have participated equally as to dividends with each share of Class A Subordinate Voting 
Stock and Class B Stock.

[iii]Each share was convertible at any time into a fully-paid share of Class A Subordinate Voting Stock.

In the event that the Class A Subordinate Voting Stock or Class B Stock are subdivided or consolidated, the other
class shall be similarly changed to preserve the relative position of each class.
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[b] Changes in the Class A Subordinate Voting Stock, Class B Stock and Exchangeable Shares for the years ended 
December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 are shown in the following table (number of shares in the following table are 
expressed in whole numbers and have not been rounded to the nearest thousand):

Class A Subordinate Exchangeable
Voting Stock Shares Class B Stock

Number of Stated Number of Stated Number of Stated
shares value shares value shares value

Issued and outstanding
at December 31,1999 1,662,890 $ 11,500 14,823,187 $110,000 63,712,141 $ 429,455

Conversion of Class B
Stock to Class A 
Subordinate Voting Stock 5,246,085 35,361 – – (5,246,085) (35,361)

Issued on acquisition
of subsidiary 267,416 1,846 – – – –

Conversion of Exchangeable
Shares to Class A Subordinate
Voting Stock 7,015,756 52,063 (7,015,756) (52,063) – –

Issued and outstanding
at December 31, 2000 14,192,147 100,770 7,807,431 57,937 58,466,056 394,094

Conversion of Exchangeable
Shares to Class A Subordinate 
Voting Stock 5,544,059 41,137 (5,544,059) (41,137) – –

Issued on acquisition of 
subsidiaries 3,509,259 15,250 – – – –

Issued under the Long-term
Incentive Plan 78,094 476 – – – –

Issued and outstanding
at December 31, 2001 23,323,559 157,633 2,263,372 16,800 58,466,056 394,094

Issued on completion of
public offering (i) 23,000,000 142,084 – – – –

Conversion of Exchangeable
Shares to Class A Subordinate 
Voting Stock (ii) 2,263,372 16,800 (2,263,372) (16,800) – –

Issued on exercise of Stock Options 18,000 87 – – – –
Issued under the Long-term

Incentive Plan 42,900 251 – – – –
Issued and outstanding

at December 31, 2002 48,647,831 $316,855 – $         – 58,466,056 $394,094

(i) On April 10, 2002, the Company completed a public offering of 23 million shares of its Class A Subordinate Voting Stock, at a price 
to the public of $6.65 per share, or Cdn. $10.60 per share in Canada. Expenses of the issue of approximately $10.9 million have
been netted against the cash proceeds.

(ii) On December 30, 2002, MEC Holdings (Canada) Inc. called for redemption, all remaining outstanding Exchangeable Shares not held
by the Company. The redemption call purchase price was satisfied in full upon delivery by the Company to each holder of outstanding
Exchangeable Shares of one share of the Company’s Class A Subordinate Voting Stock for each Exchangeable Share held.

[c] Basic earnings per share of Class A Subordinate Voting Stock, Exchangeable Shares or Class B Stock for the year 
ended December 31, 2002 has been calculated using 100,674,267 shares. The amount has been calculated using 
the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year. As a result of the net loss for the year ended 
December 31, 2002, there is no dilutive effect of the stock options and convertible subordinated notes.

Basic and diluted earnings per share of Class A Subordinate Voting Stock, Exchangeable Shares or Class B Stock 
for the year ended December 31, 2001 have been calculated using 82,930,007 and 83,241,974 shares, respectively.
Both amounts have been calculated using the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year. 
Diluted earnings per share include the dilutive effect of options to purchase 311,967 shares.

Basic and diluted earnings per share of Class A Subordinate Voting Stock, Exchangeable Shares or Class B Stock 
for the year ended December 31, 2000 have been calculated using 80,421,795 and 80,424,138 shares, respectively.
Both amounts have been calculated using the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year. 
Diluted earnings per share include the dilutive effect of options to purchase 2,343 shares.
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The following is a summary of the elements used in calculating basic and diluted earnings per share:

Years ended December 31,
2002 2001 2000

Net income (loss) $(14,395) $13,464 $ 441
Weighted average shares outstanding 100,674 82,930 80,422
Net effect of dilutive instruments – 312 2
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding 100,674 83,242 80,424

Earnings (loss) per Share:
Basic $ (0.14) $ 0.16 $ 0.01
Diluted $ (0.14) $ 0.16 $ 0.01

14. CURRENCY TRANSLATION ADJUSTMENT

Unrealized translation adjustments arise on the translation to U.S. dollars of assets and liabilities of the
Company’s self-sustaining foreign operations. During the year ended December 31, 2002, the Company incurred
unrealized currency translation gains of $16.3 million, primarily from the strengthening of the Euro against the U.S.
dollar (an unrealized loss of $9.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2001; an unrealized loss of $8.9 million for
the year ended December 31, 2000).

15. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

[a] Fair Value

The methods and assumptions used to estimate the fair value of financial instruments are described below. 
Management has estimated the fair value of its financial instruments using available market information and 
appropriate valuation methodologies. Considerable judgement is required in interpreting market data to develop 
estimates of fair value. Accordingly, estimated fair values are not necessarily indicative of the amounts that could 
be realized in current market exchanges.

Cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, bank indebtedness, accounts payable, customer deposits and 
accrued liabilities

Due to the short period to maturity of these instruments, the carrying values as presented in the consolidated
balance sheets are reasonable estimates of fair value.

Long-term Debt and Convertible Subordinated Notes

The fair value of the Company’s long-term debt and convertible subordinated notes, based on current rates for 
debt with similar terms and maturities, is not materially different from its carrying value.

[b] Credit Risk

The Company’s financial assets that are exposed to credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents and 
accounts receivable.

Cash and cash equivalents, which consist of short-term investments, including commercial paper, are only invested
in entities with an investment grade credit rating. Credit risk is further reduced by limiting the amount which is 
invested in any one government or corporation.

The Company, in the normal course of business, settles wagers for other racetracks and is thereby exposed to 
credit risk. However, these receivables are generally not a significant portion of the Company’s total assets and are
comprised of a large number of accounts.
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[c] Interest Rate Risk

The Company utilizes, on occasion, interest rate swap contracts to hedge exposure to interest rate fluctuations on 
variable rate debt.

During the year ended December 31, 2002, the Company entered into an interest rate swap contract with a major
financial institution. Under the terms of the contract, the Company receives a LIBOR based variable interest rate 
and pays a fixed rate of 6.0% on a notional amount of $55.7 million as at December 31, 2002, reduced by monthly
amounts of $350 thousand until maturity. The maturity date of the contract is November 30, 2004.

Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 133 (“SFAS 133”), “Accounting for Derivative Instruments 
and Hedging Activities”, requires companies to recognize all of their derivative instruments at fair value. Gains or 
losses related to changes in fair value of derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges are recorded in 
accumulated comprehensive income if certain hedge criteria are met, and recognized in the statement of operations
along with the related results of the hedged item. The statement requires that the Company formally document, 
designate and assess the effectiveness of such transactions in order to qualify for such hedge accounting treatment.

The Company has designated its interest rate swap contract as a cash flow hedge of anticipated interest payments 
under its variable rate debt agreement. Accordingly, gains and losses on the swap that are recorded in accumulated
comprehensive income will be recorded in net income as net interest expense in the periods in which the related 
variable interest is paid.

The Company’s interest rate swap is a payable of approximately $2.2 million at December 31, 2002, using current 
interest rates.

The Company expects to reclassify approximately $1.3 million before income taxes, or $0.8 million after income 
taxes, of the amount included in accumulated comprehensive income as of December 31, 2002, into net interest 
expense over the next twelve months.  

Otherwise, the Company is not exposed to significant interest rate risk due to the short-term maturity of its
monetary current assets and current liabilities.
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Year ended December 31, 2002
Real Estate

Racing and Other
Operations Operations Total

Revenues $  522,621 $    26,600 $   549,221
Loss before income taxes (22,903) (87) (22,990)
Income (loss) before income taxes and write-downs 413 (87) 326
Real estate properties and fixed asset additions 96,746 10,419 107,165
Real estate properties, fixed and other assets, net 980,720 101,115 1,081,835
Current assets 162,867
Future tax assets 12,103
Total assets $1,256,805

Year ended December 31, 2001
Real Estate

Racing and Other
Operations Operations Total

Revenues $ 459,411 $ 59,650 $ 519,061
Income before income taxes 1,308 21,505 22,813
Real estate properties and fixed asset additions 24,343 14,519 38,862
Real estate properties, fixed and other assets, net 611,798 142,544 754,342
Current assets 96,257
Future tax assets 7,174
Total assets $ 857,773

Year ended December 31, 2000
Real Estate

Racing and Other
Operations Operations Total

Revenues $ 355,249 $  58,314 $  413,563
Income (loss) before income taxes (3,863) 5,416 1,553
Real estate properties and fixed asset additions 46,128 7,900 54,028
Real estate properties, fixed and other assets, net 522,096 163,730 685,826
Current assets 86,820
Future tax assets 8,393
Total assets $  781,039

16. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Operating Segments

The Company’s reportable segments reflect how the Company is organized and managed by senior management.  
The Company has two operating segments: racing and real estate and other operations. The racing segment includes
the operation or management of twelve thoroughbred racetracks, one standardbred racetrack, one greyhound track
and three thoroughbred training centers. In addition, the racing segment includes off-track betting (“OTB”) facilities
and a national account wagering business. The real estate segment includes the operation of two golf courses and
related recreational facilities, residential housing developments adjacent to our golf courses and other real estate holdings.

The accounting policies of each segment are the same as those described in note 1 to these consolidated financial
statements. The following summary presents key information by operating segment.
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Geographic Segments

Revenues by geographic segment of the Company are as follows:

Years ended December 31,
2002 2001 2000

United States $  530,544 $463,958 $362,749
Canada 7,718 3,393 24,545
Europe 10,959 51,710 26,269

$  549,221 $519,061 $413,563

Real estate properties, fixed and other assets, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization, by geographic
segment are as follows:

Years ended December 31,
2002 2001 2000

United States $ 914,834 $629,029 $539,047
Canada 77,090 59,201 58,967
Europe 89,911 66,112 87,812

$1,081,835 $754,342 $685,826

17. TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

[a] During the year ended December 31, 2002, the Company sold certain non-core real estate properties located in 
Canada, the United States and Europe to affiliates of Magna, an entity holding a controlling interest in the Company,
for total proceeds of $42.4 million, for use in their automotive business. The gain on the sale of the properties of 
approximately $10.0 million, net of tax, is reported as a contribution to equity.

During the year ended December 31, 2001, the Company sold certain non-core real estate properties located in 
Milton, Ontario to Magna, for use in their automotive business, for total proceeds of approximately $12.4 million.
The gain on the sale of the properties of approximately $6.0 million, net of tax, is reported as a contribution to 
equity.

During the year ended December 31, 2000, the Company sold approximately 24.5 acres of land located in 
Vaughan, Ontario to Magna, for use in their automotive business, for total proceeds of approximately $5.8 million.
The gain on the sale of the property of approximately $1.4 million, net of tax, is reported as a contribution to equity.

[b] During the year ended December 31, 2001, the Company entered into an access agreement with Magna for its 
use of the golf course and the clubhouse meeting, dining and other facilities in Aurora, Ontario. The agreement, 
which expires on December 31, 2003, unless renewed by mutual agreement of the parties, stipulates an annual fee
of $3.2 million (Cdn $5.0 million). During the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001, $2.6 million and
$2.7 million, respectively, have been recognized in real estate revenue related to this agreement.

[c] Properties under and held for development includes $5.8 million which represents the book value of the remaining
Aurora lands transferred to the Company by Magna under a conditional sale agreement. The conditional sale 
agreement is subject to the successful severance of the affected properties. If severance is not obtained within a 
specified period such that Magna retains ownership of the Aurora lands, Magna must return $5.8 million to the 
Company with interest. Prior to completion of the conditional sale, the property is being leased by the Company 
from Magna for a nominal amount.

[d] During the year ended December 31, 2000, the Company completed the purchase from a company associated 
with members of the family of Mr. F. Stronach, the Chairman of the Board and a Director of the Company and 
the Chairman of the Board of Magna, including one family member who was an officer and director of the 
Company at the time, approximately 200 acres of land and improvements in Aurora, Ontario for a purchase price 
of approximately $11.0 million. This land is adjacent to land currently owned by Magna and other land subject to 
a conditional sale agreement between Magna and the Company. The purchase agreement for the land was originally
entered into by Magna during the five-month period ended December 31, 1998, following review and approval by
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the unrelated members of the Magna Board of Directors. The purchase was completed in October 2000 after the 
satisfaction of certain conditions, including the registration of a Plan of Subdivision following the approval of the 
relevant government authorities. The rights to acquire this land and improvements, as well as golf course construction
in progress funded by Magna, were transferred to the Company as part of the Reorganization.

During the year ended December 31, 2000, the Company sold to a company associated with members of the 
family of Mr. F. Stronach, including one family member who was an officer and director of the Company at the 
time, approximately three acres of land in Aurora, Ontario for a sale price of approximately $0.2 million.

[e] The Company had granted a limited term option to Magna to reacquire a real estate property for a fixed price 
equal to its book value of 50 million Austrian Schillings ($2.3 million). This option was exercised during 2000.

[f] Effective March 1, 1999, the Company began charging Magna an access fee for its use of the golf course and 
related facilities in Oberwaltersdorf, Austria. The agreement, which expires on March 1, 2004, unless renewed by 
mutual agreement of the parties, stipulates a yearly fee amounting to $2.6 million (Euros 2.5 million).  During the
years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, $2.4 million, $2.2 million and $2.3 million, respectively, have 
been recognized in real estate revenue related to this fee.

The Company has granted Magna a right of first refusal to purchase the Company’s two golf courses.

[g] One of the Company’s subsidiaries has been named as a defendant in a class action brought in a United States 
District Court by various plaintiffs. The plaintiffs in this action claim unspecified compensatory and punitive damages,
for restitution and disgorgement of profits, all in relation to forced labor performed by the plaintiffs for such
subsidiary and certain other Austrian and German corporate defendants at their facilities in Europe during World 
War II and certain property right claims. As a result of the Reorganization, the Company acquired the shares of 
such subsidiary. Under Austrian law, such subsidiary would be jointly and severally liable for the damages awarded
in respect of these class action claims. An Austrian subsidiary of Magna has agreed to indemnify such subsidiary 
for any damages or expenses associated with this case.

[h] A subsidiary of Magna has agreed to indemnify the Company in respect of environmental remediation costs and 
expenses relating to existing conditions at certain of the Company’s Austrian real estate properties.

18. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

[a] The Company generates a substantial amount of its revenues from wagering activities and, therefore, it is subject 
to the risks inherent in the ownership and operation of a racetrack. These include, among others, the risks normally
associated with changes in the general economic climate, trends in the gaming industry, including competition 
from other gaming institutions and state lottery commissions and changes in tax laws and gaming laws.

[b] In the ordinary course of business activities, the Company may be contingently liable for litigation and claims with
customers, suppliers and former employees. Management believes that adequate provisions have been recorded in
the accounts where required. Although it is not possible to accurately estimate the extent of potential costs and 
losses, if any, management believes, but can provide no assurance, that the ultimate resolution of such contingencies
would not have a material adverse effect on the financial position of the Company.

[c] The Company also has letters of credit issued with a financial institution of $3.6 million to guarantee various
construction projects related to activity of the Company. These letters of credit are secured by cash deposits of the
Company.

[d] The Company has provided indemnities related to surety bonds and letters of credit issued in the process of 
obtaining licenses and permits at certain racetracks and to guarantee various construction projects related to activity
of its subsidiaries. As of December 31, 2002, these indemnities amounted to $7.4 million with expiration dates 
through 2003.
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[e] At December 31, 2002, the Company had commitments under operating leases requiring minimum annual rental 
payments for the years ending December 31 as follows:

2003 $  3,859
2004 3,054
2005 2,192
2006 1,256
2007 438

$10,799

For the year ended December 31, 2002, payments under these operating leases amounted to approximately
$3.8 million (for the year ended December 31, 2001 - $3.6 million; for the year ended December 31, 2000 - $3.0 
million). The Company also rents or leases certain totalisator equipment and services, for which the annual payments
are contingent upon handle, live race days and other factors. The Company’s rent expense relating to the totalisator
equipment and services was $4.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2002 (for the year ended December 31,
2001 – $4.1 million; for the year ended December 31, 2000 – $2.5 million).  

The Company occupies land for the Remington Park racing facility under an operating lease that extends through 
2013. The lease also contains options to renew for five 10-year periods after the initial term. Under the lease 
agreement, the Company made an initial payment of $4.0 million that is being amortized over the initial lease term.
In addition to the initial payment, the Company is obligated to pay additional rent based on minimum annual 
rental payments ranging from $111 thousand to $133 thousand and one-half of one percent of the wagers made at
the track in excess of $187 million during the racing season. The percentage rent was not applicable for the year 
ended December 31, 2002.

The Bay Meadows lease expires on December 31, 2003, subject to a further one year extension at the landlord’s option.

[f] In connection with its acquisition of a controlling interest in The Maryland Jockey Club, Maryland Racing, Inc. 
("MRI"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, has agreed with the Maryland Racing Commission to spend 
a minimum of $5.0 million by August 31, 2003, $5.0 million by December 31, 2003, and $5.0 million by June 30, 
2004 on capital expenditures and renovations at Pimlico Race Course, Laurel Park, Bowie Training Center and 
related facilities and operations.

[g] Contractual commitments outstanding at December 31, 2002, which related to construction and development 
projects, amounted to approximately $17.5 million.

[h] Completion of the acquisition of Flamboro Downs is subject to the receipt of regulatory approvals. The secured 
notes of $32.8 million, assumed by ORI on its acquisition of Flamboro Downs, have been guaranteed by the 
Company. In addition, the purchase and sale agreement stipulates that the purchase price may be increased by a 
maximum of $3.5 million (Cdn. $5.5 million), plus accrued interest, in the event that Flamboro Downs’ agreement
with the OLGC, with respect to the slot facility, is extended.

[i] Although the Company is considering a major redevelopment of its Gulfstream Park racetrack in Florida (the 
“Gulfstream Park Redevelopment”), it has deferred a decision on the project at the present time. Should it proceed
as currently contemplated, the Gulfstream Park Redevelopment would include a simulcast pavilion, a sports and 
entertainment arena and a new turf club and grandstand. In addition, there would be significant modifications 
and enhancements to the racetracks and stable areas. If completed, the Gulfstream Park Redevelopment would 
require the demolition of a substantial portion of the current buildings and related structures, which include the 
grandstand and turf club. The aggregate carrying value at December 31, 2002 of the assets that would be
demolished if the Gulfstream Park Redevelopment is completed is approximately $22.2 million. If the Company 
decides to proceed with the Gulfstream Park Redevelopment and obtains the approval of its Board of Directors,
a reduction in the expected life of the existing assets would occur and a write-down would be necessary.
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19. OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

Other long-term liabilities is comprised as follows:
December 31,

2002 2001
Deferred initiation fees and other revenue $5,871 $2,494
Fair value of interest rate swap (note 15(c)) 2,177 –
Pension liability 357 82

$8,405 $2,576

Employee Defined Benefit Plans

The Company’s Santa Anita Park racetrack has a pension plan that consists of a non-contributory defined benefit
retirement plan for year-round employees who are at least 21 years of age, have one or more years of service, and are
not covered by collective bargaining agreements. Plan assets consist of a group of annuity contracts with a life
insurance company. Plan benefits are based primarily on years of service and qualifying compensation during the final
years of employment. Funding requirements comply with federal requirements that are imposed by law.  

The net periodic pension cost of the Company for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 included
the following components: 

Years ended December 31,
2002 2001 2000

Components of net periodic pension cost:
Service cost $  489 $  361 $ 196
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation 679 556 588
Actual (return) loss on plan assets 64 (262) (922)
Net amortization and deferral (587) (331) 348

Net periodic pension cost $  645 $ 324 $ 210

The following provides a reconciliation of benefit obligations, plan assets and funded status of the plan:

Years ended December 31,
2002 2001 2000

Change in benefit obligation:
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $10,790 $9,198 $8,669
Service cost 489 361 196
Interest cost 679 556 588
Benefits paid (543) (582) (537)
Actuarial losses 822 1,257 282

Benefit obligation at end of year 12,237 10,790 9,198

Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 9,298 9,142 8,287
Actual return (loss) on plan assets (64) 262 922
Company contributions 371 476 470
Benefits paid (543) (582) (537)

Fair value of plan assets at end of year 9,062 9,298 9,142

Funded status of plan (underfunded) (3,175) (1,492) (56)
Unrecognized net (gain) loss 2,818 1,410 (178)
Net pension liability $ (357) $ (82) $ (234)
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Assumptions used in determining the funded status of the retirement income plan are as follows: 

Years ended December 31, 
2002 2001 2000

Weighted average discount rate 6.0% 6.25% 7.0%
Weighted average rate of increase in compensation levels 5.0% 5.0% 5.0%
Expected long-term rate of return 6.0% 7.5% 8.0%

The measurement date and related assumptions for the funded status of the Company’s retirement income plan
are as of the end of the year. 

The Company also participates in several multi-employer benefit plans on behalf of its employees who are union
members. Company contributions to these plans were $3.9 million, $3.9 million and $3.8 million, respectively, for the
years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000. The data available from administrators of the multi-employer pension
plans is not sufficient to determine the accumulated benefit obligations, nor the net assets attributable to the multi-
employer plans in which Company employees participate.

The Company offers various 401(k) plans (the “Plans”) to provide retirement benefits for employees. All employees
who meet certain eligibility requirements are able to participate in the Plans. Discretionary matching contributions are
determined each year by the Company. The Company contributed to the Plans $0.4 million in the year ended
December 31, 2002, $0.4 million in the year ended December 31, 2001 and approximately $0.3 million in the year
ended December 31, 2000.

Long-term Incentive Plan

The Company has a Long-term Incentive Plan (the “Plan”)  (adopted in 2000) which allows for the grant of
non-qualified stock options, incentive stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, bonus stock and
performance shares to directors, officers, employees, consultants, independent contractors and agents. A maximum of
7.9 million shares are available to be issued under the Plan, of which approximately 6.5 million are available for issuance
pursuant to stock options and tandem stock appreciation rights and approximately 1.4 million are available for issuance
pursuant to any other type of award under the Plan.

The Company grants stock options to certain directors, officers, key employees and consultants to purchase shares
of the Company’s Class A Subordinate Voting Stock. All of such stock options give the grantee the right to purchase
Class A Subordinate Voting Stock of the Company at a price no less than the fair market value of such stock at the
date of grant. Generally, stock options under the Plan vest over a period of two to six years from the date of grant at
rates of 1/7th to 1/3rd per year and expire on or before the tenth anniversary of the date of grant, subject to earlier
cancellation in the events specified in the stock option agreements entered into by the Company with each recipient
of options.

Information with respect to shares under option is as follows:

Shares Subject Weighted Average
to Option Exercise Price

2002 2001 2002 2001
Balance, Beginning of Year 4,453,333 3,821,666 $5.99 $6.31
Granted 947,500 1,250,000 7.00 5.17
Exercised (18,000) (15,000) 4.88 4.90
Forfeited (21,000) (603,333) 5.37 6.33
Balance, End of Year 5,361,833 4,453,333 $6.18 $5.99

Information regarding stock options outstanding is as follows:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
2002 2001 2002 2001

Number 5,361,833 4,453,333 3,905,623 2,475,571
Weighted average exercise price $6.18 $5.99 $6.18 $6.20
Weighted average remaining contractual life (years) 7.1 7.6 6.6 7.1
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Pro-forma information regarding net income and earnings per share is required by SFAS 123, “Accounting and
Disclosure of Stock-Based Compensation”, and has been determined as if the Company had accounted for its stock
options under the fair value method under SFAS 123. The average fair values of the stock option grants in 2002 were
$3.41 (for the year ended December 31, 2001 - $2.90; for the year ended December 31, 2000 - $1.07). The fair value
of stock option grants in 2002 was estimated at the date of grant using the following assumptions:

Years ended December 31,
2002 2001 2000

Risk free interest rates 3.0% 4.5% 5% to 5.5%
Dividend yields 0.77% 0% 0%
Volatility factors of expected market price of Class A Subordinate Voting Stock 0.549 0.542 0.001
Weighted average expected life (years) 4.07 4.28 4.14

The Black – Scholes option valuation model was developed for use in estimating the fair value of traded options that
require the input of highly subjective assumptions including the expected stock price volatility. Because the Company’s
stock options have characteristics significantly different from those of traded options and because changes in the
subjective input assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimate, in management’s opinion, the existing models
do not necessarily provide a reliable single measure of the fair value of its stock options. 

The Company’s SFAS 123 pro-forma net income (loss), and the related per share amounts are as follows:

Years ended December 31,
2002 2001 2000

Net income (loss), as reported $(14,395) $13,464 $  441
Pro-forma stock compensation expenses determined
under the fair value method, net of tax (3,009) (2,815) (213)
Pro-forma net income (loss) $(17,404) $10,649 $  228

Earnings (loss) per share
Basic - as reported $ (0.14) $ 0.16 $ 0.01
Basic - pro-forma $ (0.17) $ 0.13 $ 0.00
Diluted - as reported $ (0.14) $ 0.16 $ 0.01
Diluted - pro-forma $ (0.17) $ 0.13 $ 0.00

For purposes of pro-forma disclosures, the estimated fair value of the options is amortized to expense over the
option’s vesting period.
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The following table presents net income (loss) and earnings per share information following Canadian GAAP:

Years ended December 31,
2002 2001 2000

Net income (loss) under U.S. GAAP $(14,395) $13,464 $   441
Adjustments [net of related tax effects]
Interest expense on convertible subordinated notes resulting from

amortization of discount on initial recognition of liability component (a) (66) – –
Net gain on sale of real estate to a related party (b) (note 17) 9,992 5,938 1,352
Net income (loss) under Canadian GAAP $ (4,469) $19,402 $1,793
Earnings (loss) per share:

Basic $ (0.04) $ 0.23 $  0.02
Diluted $ (0.04) $ 0.23 $  0.02

66

20. CANADIAN GENERALLY ACCEPTED ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES

The Company’s accounting policies, as reflected in these consolidated financial statements, do not materially differ
from Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (“Canadian GAAP”) except for:

a) Under Canadian GAAP, the Company’s convertible subordinated notes would be recorded in part as debt 
and in part as shareholders’ equity, rather than entirely as debt as considered under U.S. GAAP.

Under Canadian GAAP, the convertible subordinate notes liability would decrease by $4.8 million, and other 
paid in capital, included in shareholders’ equity, would increase by $7.6 million.  In addition, the issue costs 
related to the notes of $2.8 million would be recorded in other assets and not netted within the liability amount.

b) Under Canadian GAAP, sale of land to a related party that owns less than 80% of the vendor’s share capital, 
where the exchange amount is supported by independent evidence, is considered an income item rather than a
contribution to equity as considered under U.S. GAAP.

c) Under Canadian GAAP there is no requirement to disclose comprehensive income (loss).
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Quarterly Information
(U.S. dollars in thousands, except per share figures)
(unaudited)

For the year ended December 31, 2002 March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31 Total

Revenue $248,799 $128,168 $65,433 $106,821 $549,221

Earnings (loss) before interest, income taxes,

depreciation and amortization (“EBITDA”) 37,046 7,536 (11,220) (32,809) 553

EBITDA, excluding the sale of non-core real estate

and asset write-downs 36,696 5,767 (11,186) (9,581) 21,696

Net income (loss) 18,615 1,082 (9,742) (24,350) (14,395)

Diluted earnings (loss) per share 0.22 0.01 (0.09) (0.23) 0.14

For the year ended December 31, 2001 March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31 Total

Revenue $ 244,526 $ 113,192 $ 65,832 $  95,511 $ 519,061

EBITDA 44,622 11,019 (2,825) (1,127) 51,689

EBITDA, excluding the sale of non-core real estate 32,564 6,025 (2,862) (4,467) 31,260

Net income (loss) 22,468 2,237 (6,227) (5,014) 13,464

Diluted earnings (loss) per share 0.28 0.03 (0.07) (0.06) 0.16

For the year ended December 31, 2000 March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31 Total

Revenue $ 186,468 $ 102,344 $ 50,213 $ 74,538 $ 413,563

EBITDA 26,434 9,132 (4,063) (9,674) 21,829

EBITDA, excluding the sale of non-core real estate 26,434 6,777 (7,759) (10,597) 14,855

Net income (loss) 11,980 2,752 (5,110) (9,181) 441

Diluted earnings (loss) per share 0.15 0.03 (0.06) (0.11) 0.01

(Refer to page 68 of the Annual Report for Reconciliation of Non-GAAP to GAAP Financial Measures)

SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

MAGNA ENTERTAINMENT CORP.

67

564_FIN_P67  3/15/03  9:18 AM  Page 67



Reconciliation of Non-GAAP to GAAP Financial Measures
(U.S. dollars in thousands, except per share figures)

(unaudited)

Revenues, Excluding the Sale of Non-Core Real Estate 2002 2001 2000 1999

Revenues $549,221 $519,061 $413,563 $186,860

Sale of non-core real estate 8,891 40,600 37,630 2,544

Revenues, excluding the sale of non-core real estate $540,330 $478,461 $375,933 $184,316

Earnings Before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization ("EBITDA") 2002 2001 2000 1999

Income (loss) before income taxes $ (22,990) $ 22,813 $  1,553 $  2,773

Interest expense, net 709 2,682 215 (920)

Depreciation and amortization 22,834 26,194 20,061 7,924

EBITDA 553 51,689 21,829 9,777

Sale of non-core real estate (8,891) (40,600) (37,630) (2,544)

Cost of non-core real estate sold 6,718 20,171 30,656 1,916

(2,173) (20,429) (6,974) (628)

Write-down of long-lived and intangible assets 17,493 – – –

Write-down of excess real estate 5,823 – – –

23,316 – – –

EBITDA, excluding the sale of non-core real estate and asset write-downs $ 21,696 $ 31,260 $ 14,855 $  9,149

Net Income (Loss), Excluding the Sale of Non-Core Real Estate and Asset Write-downs 2002 2001 2000 1999

Net income (loss) $ (14,395) $ 13,464 $     441 $     (62)

Net income (loss) relating to the sale of non-core real estate and asset write-downs (12,432) 12,057 1,980 (14)

Net income (loss), excluding the sale of non-core real estate and asset write-downs $ (1,963) $ 1,407 $ (1,539) $      (48)

Diluted Earnings (Loss) Per Share, Excluding the Sale of Non-Core Real Estate

and Asset Write-downs 2002 2001 2000 1999

Diluted earnings (loss) per share $   (0.14) $    0.16 $    0.01 $ 0.00   

Diluted earnings (loss) per share relating to the sale of non-core real estate and asset write-downs (0.12) $    0.14 $    0.03 $ 0.00   

Diluted earnings (loss) per share, excluding the sale of non-core real estate and asset write-downs $   (0.02) $     0.02 $    (0.02) $ 0.00

68

TRADING DATA AND STOCK LISTINGS

Stock Listings

Class A Subordinate Voting Stock –
Nasdaq National Market (MECA)
Toronto Stock Exchange (MEC.A)

Trading Data – Class A Shares
Nasdaq (MECA) TSX (MEC.A)

2002 High Low High Low
($US) ($Cdn)

1st Quarter 10.25 6.41 16.50 10.25
2nd Quarter 8.65 5.80 13.61 9.00
3rd Quarter 6.99 3.15 10.75 5.40
4th Quarter 7.49 4.95 11.68 7.80

As of March 7, 2003, there were 605 registered holders of Class A Subordinate
Voting Stock.

Trading Data – Exchangeable Shares
TSX (MEH)

2002 High Low
($Cdn)

1st Quarter 16.10 10.25
2nd Quarter 13.50 9.30
3rd Quarter 10.90 5.30
4th Quarter 11.70 7.65

The Exchangeable Shares were called for redemption, exchanged for Class A shares
and delisted from the TSX effective December 30, 2002.
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Magna Entertainment Corp.
337 Magna Drive
Aurora, Ontario, Canada  L4G 7K1
Telephone: (905) 726-2462

Bay Meadows Racecourse
2600 S. Delaware Street
San Mateo, California, USA  94402
Telephone: (650) 574-7223

Flamboro Downs*
967 Highway 5
Dundas, Ontario, Canada  L9H 5G1
Telephone: (905) 627-3561

Golden Gate Fields
1100 East Shore Highway
Albany, California, USA  94706
Telephone: (510) 559-7300

Great Lakes Downs
4800 Harvey Street
Muskegon, Michigan, USA  49444
Telephone: (231) 799-2400

Gulfstream Park
901 South Federal Highway
Hallandale Beach, Florida, USA  33009
Telephone: (954) 454-7000

Laurel Park
Route 198 & Racetrack Road
Laurel, Maryland, USA  20724
Telephone: (301) 725-0400

Lone Star Park at Grand Prairie
1000 Lone Star Parkway
Grand Prairie, Texas, USA  75050
Telephone: (972) 263-7223

The Meadows
Racetrack Road
Meadow Lands, Pennsylvania, USA  15347
Telephone: (724) 225-9300

Multnomah Greyhound Park
944 N.E. 223 Avenue
Wood Village, Oregon, USA  97060
Telephone: (503) 667-7700

Transfer Agents and Registrars

Canada
Computershare Trust Company of Canada
Toronto, Ontario, Canada

United States
Computershare Trust Company, Inc.
Denver, Colorado, USA

Copies of the Financial Statements for the Year Ended December 31, 2002 are available
through the Internet on the Electronic Data Gathering Analysis and Retrieval (EDGAR)
system, which can be accessed at www.sec.gov/edgarhp.htm for U.S. shareholders,
and on the System for Electronic Document Analysis and Retrieval (SEDAR), which
can be accessed at www.sedar.com for Canadian shareholders. The Report on Form
10-K, Form 10-Qs, Form 8-Ks and other required securities filings can also be found
on EDGAR and SEDAR.

SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

Office Locations for Magna Entertainment Corp. and its major operations.
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Pimlico Race Course
5201 Parkheights Avenue
Baltimore, Maryland, USA  21215
Telephone: (410) 542-9400

Portland Meadows
1001 N. Schmeer Road
Portland, Oregon, USA  97217
Telephone: (503) 285-9144

Remington Park
One Remington Place
Oklahoma City, Oklahoma, USA  73111
Telephone: (405) 424-1000

Santa Anita Park
285 W. Huntington Drive
Arcadia, California, USA  91007
Telephone: (626) 574-7223

Thistledown
21501 Emery Road
North Randall, Ohio, USA  44128
Telephone: (216) 662-8600

Fontana Sports
Magna-Strasse 1
A-2522 Oberwaltersdorf, Austria
Telephone: 011-43-2253-600-0

Magna Golf Club
14780 Leslie Street
Aurora, Ontario, Canada  L4G 7C3
Telephone: (905) 726-3456 

HorseRacing TV TM

Telephone:1-866-733-HRTV
(1-866-733-4788)
customerservice@hr.tv
www.hr.tv

XpressBetTM

Telephone: 1-866-88XPRESS
(1-866-889-7737)
customerservice@xpressbet.com
www.xpressbet.com

The 2003 Annual Meeting of Stockholders
The 2003 Annual Meeting of Stockholders will be held at:
Lone Star Park at Grand Prairie
1000 Lone Star Parkway
Grand Prairie, Texas
Wednesday, April 30, 2003

VISION
To be the world’s leading electronic media wagering and entertainment company.

CORPORATE PROFILE
Magna Entertainment Corp. (MEC) is North America’s number one owner and operator of
thoroughbred racetracks, and one of the world’s leading suppliers, via simulcasting, of live racing
content to the growing inter-track, off-track and account wagering markets.

MEC operates a growing off-track betting (OTB) network in several states and a national account
wagering business, XpressBetTM, which permits customers to wager on races by telephone and
over the Internet, where permitted by law. MEC also owns and operates HorseRacing TV TM,
a 24-hour television network that provides live thoroughbred, harness and quarter horse racing
action from racetracks in the United States and Canada.

MEC’s network of racetracks includes some of the most prestigious names in horse racing,
including Santa Anita Park, Golden Gate Fields and Bay Meadows Racecourse in California,
Gulfstream Park in Florida, Lone Star Park at Grand Prairie in Texas and Pimlico Race Course
(home of the Preakness Stakes®) and Laurel Park in Maryland. Additional racetracks owned or
managed by MEC include The Meadows in Pittsburgh, Remington Park in Oklahoma,
Thistledown in Ohio, Great Lakes Downs in Michigan, Portland Meadows in Oregon,
Flamboro Downs* in Ontario, Colonial Downs in Virginia and Multnomah Greyhound Park in
Oregon. MEC also owns Palm Meadows, a state-of-the-art thoroughbred training center located
in Palm Beach County, Florida, as well as San Luis Rey Downs, a thoroughbred training facility
located near San Diego, California and Bowie Training Center in Prince George’s County, Maryland.

MEC is a publicly traded company whose shares trade on the Nasdaq National Market (MECA)
and the Toronto Stock Exchange (MEC.A).

*At the date of printing, the acquisition of Flamboro Downs by MEC was pending regulatory approvals.
Cover: The field rounds the turn at Pimlico Race Course. *At the date of printing, the acquisition of Flamboro Downs by MEC was pending regulatory approvals.
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